
 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Children and Education 
Policy and Accountability 

Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Monday 23 November 2015 
7.00 pm 

COMMITTEE ROOM 1 - HAMMERSMITH TOWN HALL 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration: Opposition 

Councillor Caroline Needham (Chair) 
Councillor Alan De'Ath 
Councillor Elaine Chumnery 
 

Councillor Caroline Ffiske (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Donald Johnson 
 

Co-optees 

Eleanor Allen, London Diocesan Board for Schools 
Dennis Charman, Teacher Representative 
Nandini Ganesh, Parentsactive Representative 
Philippa O'Driscoll, Westminster Diocesan Education Service Representative 
Nadia Taylor, Parent Governor Representative 
Vacancy, Parent Governor Representative 
 

 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: David Abbott 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 Tel 020 8753 2063 
 E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building. 
 

Date Issued: 11 November 2015 
 
 

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy/Committee_reports_minutes_and_agendas/Current_Committees/Homepage.asp
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Children and Education Policy and 
Accountability Committee 

Agenda 
 

23 November 2015 
 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES  1 - 7 

 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 21 September 
2015. 
 

 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee.   
 

 

4.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 To invite questions from members of the public present.  
 
Members of the public are invited to submit their questions in advance 
to allow a more substantive answer to be given. Questions can be sent 
to: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk  

 

mailto:david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk


5.   CHILD PROTECTION AND SAFEGUARDING IN HAMMERSMITH & 
FULHAM - PRESENTATION AND Q&A 

8 - 23 

 In this section there will be a presentation on safeguarding covering key 
topics such as: 

 What do we mean by safeguarding? 

 Whose responsibility is it? 

 Myths and realities. 

 What to do if you have concerns about someone (referral 
pathways). 

 
The report is attached as an accompaniment to the presentation and 
provides an overview of child protection and safeguarding activity in the 
borough. 
 

 

6.   LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD - 2014-15 ANNUAL 
REPORT  

24 - 83 

 The Annual Report provides a detailed overview of the work of the Local 
Safeguarding Children Board in 2014/15 and the priorities it needs to 
pursue in 2015/16 and beyond. 
 

 

7.   EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S UPDATE  84 - 88 

 This report provides a brief overview of recent developments of 
relevance in the Children’s Services department for the Committee to 
consider. 
 

 

8.   CABINET MEMBERS UPDATE   

 This section provides time for the Cabinet Member(s) to update 
members on activity relevant to the Committee. 
 

 

9.   WORK PROGRAMME  89 - 91 

 The Committee is asked to give consideration to its work programme for 
the current municipal year. 
 

 

10.   DATE OF NEXT MEETING   

 The next meeting is scheduled for 18 January 2016. 
 

 

 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

. 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Children and 
Education Policy 

and Accountability 
Committee 

Minutes 
 

Monday 21 September 2015 
 

 

 
PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Caroline Needham (Chair), Alan De'Ath, 
Elaine Chumnery, Caroline Ffiske (Vice-Chair) and Donald Johnson 
 
Co-opted members: Eleanor Allen (London Diocesan Board for Schools), Dennis 
Charman (Teacher Representative), Nandini Ganesh (Parentsactive 
Representative) and Philippa O'Driscoll (Westminster Diocesan Education Service 
Representative) 
 
Other Councillors: Sue Macmillan (Cabinet Member for Children and Education) 
 
Officers: Andrew Christie, Richard Stanley, Steve Miley, Mike Potter, Dave 
Rogers, and David Abbott 
 
Guests: Diane Dixon, Michele Barratt, and Nikki Pieniek-Jones 
 

 
1. MINUTES  

 
Updates 
Page 5 – Support to Multi-Lingual Families – the Chair requested a written 
update on the outstanding actions related to supplementary schools and 
supporting learning English language skills for parents. 
 

ACTION: Richard Stanley 
RESOLVED 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 15 June 2015 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Sue Fennimore (who 
was attending CSERS PAC scheduled for the same time) and Nadia Taylor. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Dennis Charman declared a non-pecuniary interest as a Governor of 
Melcome Primary School. Philippa O’Driscoll declared a non-pecuniary 
interest as the Chair of Governors at St. Augustine's Catholic Primary School. 
 
 

4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
There were no public questions during this item. 
 
 

5. DIRECTOR'S UPDATE  
 
Andrew Christie presented the report that provided an overview of recent 
developments of relevance to the Committee and took questions from 
Members. 
 
Operation Makesafe 
Andrew Christie noted that training was being developed for Council staff in 
areas such as environmental health and licensing enforcement. The police 
would also deliver training and support to businesses through their Safer 
Neighbourhood Teams. There will be a formal launch and roll-out of the 
programme in the borough in October. Members requested an update on the 
launch outside of the meeting. 

ACTION: Andrew Christie 
 
Provisional Exam Results 2015 
Members asked if the results breakdown could include national 
benchmarking. Officers responded that a more detailed report would come to 
the Committee with benchmarking and next year would include the Progress 
8 performance measure. 
 
Summer Activities for Young People 
Members noted that the offer was very good but the start and end times of 
activities varied considerably. If activities did not cover a full day they were 
not suitable for the majority of working parents. 
 
Children and Families Act Implementation 
Members had concerns about the eligibility criteria for Education, Health, and 
Care plans in light of the fact that 136 requests for assessment were received 
but only 76 plans were issued in the last academic year. Officers responded 
that they would provide more guidance on the information needed from 
parents. 

ACTION: Ian Heggs 
 

6. CABINET MEMBERS UPDATE  
 
Councillor Sue Macmillan, Cabinet Member for Children and Education, 
provided an overview of recent developments of relevance to the Committee 
and took questions from Members. 

Page 2



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
Since the previous meeting of the Committee, Councillor Macmillan had 
undertaken a number of visits to schools, children’s centres, and FE colleges. 
Councillor Macmillan had also attended a workshop on the Focus on Practice 
initiative and suggested the Committee should consider the initiative at a 
future meeting. 

ACTION: David Abbott 
 
The SEN school transport service had been reconfigured with input from the 
Travel Care and Support working party and performance was being carefully 
monitored.  
 
Councillor Macmillan had also visited Kidzania and was working with them to 
develop a careers programme for primary schools. 
 
 

7. CHILDCARE TASK GROUP - 8-6 EXTENDED NURSERIES PILOT 
 
Mike Potter introduced Diane Dixon from the Family and Childcare Trust who 
led the extended nurseries pilot in the region. Also in attendance were 
Michele Barratt (Head of Vanessa Nursery School and Cathnor Park 
Children’s Centre) and Nikki Pieniek-Jones (Strategic Improvement Leader at 
Colville Primary School) who took part in the pilot. 
 
Diane Dixon informed members that the pilot tested whether an extended, 
more flexible early education offer could be delivered in school nurseries, 
providing additional local placements for two, three, and four year olds 
between the hours of 8am and 6pm. 
 
The pilot covered 21 schools across 8 boroughs. The first steps for schools 
was to conduct a demand survey of local parents (not just parents of that 
school). They also tested whether the current arrangements available to 
parents met their needs. It was clear that there was significant demand for a 
longer day. For parents, organising childcare is often a challenge and they 
have to rely on a patchwork of provision (from professional care to family 
support) that can change day-to-day. That fragmentation  was not ideal for 
the parents or the children. Surveys showed that parents wanted to keep their 
children in the schools but they didn’t want them to be in ‘education’ before 
and after the normal school day. Diane Dixon believed it was important to 
deliver the foundation stage but in a sensitive way that was not overly 
intensive for children. 
 
A key pillar of the pilot was to support schools in looking at making their 
provision financially sustainable. Tools were developed with schools to enable 
them to produce clear financial modelling. A number of the schools found that 
going through that process was illuminating and in some cases highlighted 
serious cases of under-utilisation. 
 
Michele Barratt noted that Vanessa Nursery found it very useful to go through 
business planning and financial modelling. As schools were already paying 
for general costs (buildings, energy etc.) they had an advantage over other 

Page 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

providers. They also looked at using a sliding scale for payment to partially 
subsidise lower income families and vulnerable children. She also noted that, 
while parents did not want to change established childcare arrangements, if 
care was provided at the Nursery in the first instance (through the 15 hours of 
free care) then it was likely they would continue using that provision. 
 
Nikki Pieniek-Jones informed members that Colville Primary School were very 
keen to take part in the pilot. There was significant demand from parents and 
from January the school had opened after-school provision so the pilot just 
added flexibility in addition to what was already offered. Reception and 
nursery had been placed together to focus on early years content. Financial 
planning had been difficult at first but the costings showed that there was 
budget available for an extra staff member to support the nursery. Overall the 
pilot had been very successful. 
 
Members asked how extended provision in schools would affect childminders.  
Diane Dixon responded that the Small Business and Enterprise Act allowed 
childminders to operate off domestic premises for half a week which allowed 
them to work with schools. A major challenge for schools had been how to 
staff the extra hours. There was potential for schools to use childminders to 
support their staffing needs. 
 
Mike Potter reported that officers were attending the next meeting of the 
Heads Executive to talk about rolling out this provision more broadly across 
the borough. It was hoped that a viable group of schools would take up the 
offer. 
 
Members asked if the extra provision would be suitable for children with SEN 
as childcare was often a challenge for those families. Michele Barratt 
responded that Vanessa Nursery offered a very high level of support for 
children with SEN and their families. Now the school was considering how to 
fund needs that required an additional adult to support. The school felt it was 
important for children to be able to access the same provision as their friends 
without their parents incurring huge costs. 
 
Members suggested Governors could play a significant role in financial 
modelling and market testing. Governor recruitment could even focus on 
attracting individuals with business and accounting skills to better support 
Headteachers in those areas. Michele Barratt responded that some of the 
Governors at Vanessa Nursery had already contributed a lot in those areas 
but not all schools would have that advantage. Members reported that some 
companies actively sought out charity board roles for their staff and their 
performance in those roles was part of their internal assessment processes. 
Local businesses could be encouraged to place members of staff with 
relevant skills in Governor roles. 
 
Members asked how do Academies factored into the new provision. 
Diane Dixon noted that she was working with ArkSwift to create a nursery for 
all three Ark academies in the area that would be 8-6. 
 

Page 4



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Councillor Macmillan asked how the provision from schools compared with 
the PVI sector. Diane Dixon responded that, looking at the local market, the 
unit cost was around £2-3 as compared with a market rate of around £8-10. 
The low unit cost meant that some parents could be subsidised while still 
providing a reasonable rate to the majority of parents. 
 
The Chair thanked Diane Dixon, Michele Barratt, and Nikki Pieniek-Jones for 
attending and stated that she hoped H&F would be at the forefront of 
providing flexible childcare that worked for children, parents, and schools. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Committee reviewed and commented on the report. 
 
 

8. THE WORKLOAD OF TEACHERS  
 
Richard Stanley and Dave Rogers presented the report that provided an 
overview of the issues facing teachers in the borough and national trends and 
concerns in relation to their workloads and the impact that has on recruitment 
and retention. 
 
There had been a national response on this issue from Ofsted, titled 
‘Mythbusters’ that aimed to clarify what was expected from an Ofsted 
inspection. The Secretary of State for Education also acknowledged concerns 
in this area and highlighted a number of actions that schools could take to 
mitigate problems. 
 
Ultimately it was the school leader and the Governors who determined the  
expectations around what teachers should be delivering. The Council can 
influence through partnership groups and promoting the value of doing 
regular surveys on work-life balance and the importance of acting on those 
findings. The Council also promoted the Healthy Schools initiative. 
 
Feedback was gathered from unions on the report and there was a sense  
that the national guidance had not been properly promoted within schools. 
 
Dave Rogers noted that the schools HR team had built up strong working 
relationships with both schools and unions and they provided access to 
occupational health services, counselling, and promoted early intervention of 
managers to resolve issues of stress before they became a major issue. 
 
Members asked if significant numbers of teachers had left local authority 
schools for Academies and if Academies treated staff any differently. Officers 
responded that movement data was not available as Academies did not have 
to publish turnover figures but unions reported that there was no significant 
movement in either direction. Teachers tended to either move school for a 
promotion or leave the profession entirely. 
 
A Member who worked as a teacher noted that his school had lost six 
members of staff that had not been replaced, the work was simply spread to 
other staff. 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
Ian Heggs informed the Committee that a strategy on workload had been 
produced to take to Headteachers and he would feedback to a future 
meeting. 
 

ACTION: Ian Heggs 
 
Members asked how the Council supported individual teachers. Officers 
responded that a comprehensive training programme was provided in the 
NQT year that included organisation and managing of workloads. A 
framework of training was also available that focused on other key stages of a 
teacher’s career that went all the way up to senior leadership. 
 
Members asked if all schools were required to have wellbeing policies to 
support staff. Officers responded that they were but some were less formal 
than others, it was largely at the discretion of the school. 
 
Philippa O’Driscoll noted that at St. Augustine's had a cross-cutting curriculum 
that encouraged teachers of different age groups to interacted and reduced 
isolation. 
 
Members asked if teachers could do some form of job-sharing. Officers 
responded that due to the nature of the job there were constraints but if 
schools continued to struggle with recruitment they would have to offer more 
flexible packages to attract the right staff. 
 
Dennis Charman noted that the pressure on school accountability had made 
schools more conservative in the way they hired. Performance management 
made job sharing difficult. 
 
Members suggested that schools could be given guidance on how to write 
wellbeing policies. All schools policies could include the impact on wellbeing 
and work-life balance. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Committee reviewed and commented on the report. 
 
 

9. SUPPORTING CARE LEAVERS - THE INDEPENDENT VISITORS 
SCHEME  
 
Steve Miley presented the report that described the role of the independent 
visitor’s scheme along with other support services aimed at supporting the 
transition of Care Leavers to independence. 
 
Members were informed that independent visitors were only used in a 
minority of cases and that the service wanted the majority of young people in 
care to have their foster carer fulfil that role. It was an important service for 
those that used it though, giving young people a sense of self-worth that 
someone took an interest in them. Officers did want to expand the service 
slightly by recruiting more volunteers, particularly younger men. 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
Members asked how the service was promoted to young people. Steve Miley 
responded that it would be discussed with their social worker. 
 
Members asked what steps had been taken to recruit more volunteers. Steve 
Miley responded that recruitment was in progress but it had been delayed due 
to problems with managed services. 
 
The Chair noted that officers should explore publicising recruitment through 
social media and other online channels to attract younger people to the 
service. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Committee reviewed and commented on the report. 
 
 

10. WORK PROGRAMME  
 
The Chair requested that the following items were added to the work 
programme: 

 Summer holiday childcare provision (including SEN). 

 An update on 8-6 extended nurseries for summer 2016. 

 An update on SEN provision. 

 The schools performance report in January should include information 
on Progress 8 and include national benchmarking. 

 
The Chair requested that the next meeting of the Committee took place at 
Queensmill School so parents and teachers could attend for the SEN 
passenger transport item. It was also suggested that the headteacher could 
give an update on the work that the school has done around SEN. 
 
 

11. DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 
The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for 23 November 2015. 
 

 
Meeting started: 7.03 pm 
Meeting ended: 9.21 pm 

 
 

Chair   

 
 
 

Contact officer: David Abbott 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 Tel 020 8753 2063 
 E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 7



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

CHILDREN AND EDUCATION 
POLICY AND ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
23 November 2015 

 

 

CHILD PROTECTION AND SAFEGUARDING 
 

Report of the Director of Family Services, Steve Miley 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification: For Information and Review 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director:  
Andrew Christie, Executive Director of Children’s Services 
 

Report Author:  
Anna Carpenter, Safeguarding Service 
Manager  
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 753 5124 
E-mail: 
anna.carpenter@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. This report highlights the following issues: 

 Safeguarding training and professional development across the 
professional network. 

 Child protection activity rose significantly during the year with the 
number of children subject to plans peaking at 196 in February 2015. A 
focused strategy has been implemented to safely manage demands 
and reduce activity. Child Protection numbers are now back down to 
levels consistent with our statistical neighbours. 

 Safeguarding practice themes: 
o Strengthening Families Conference Model 
o Thresholds 
o Quality of Child Protection Plans 
o Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 
o Community Engagement 
o Allegations Against Professionals - LADO 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 The Committee is asked to review and comment on the report and make 
recommendations as appropriate. 

Page 8

Agenda Item 5

mailto:anna.carpenter@lbhf.gov.uk


3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

3.1. This report details information about child protection activity in the Borough 
from April 2014 through to the end of February 2015 and provides a shared 
services perspective where this information is available. 

 
3.2. It is a fact that in society, children may be harmed and seriously injured by 

their parents and carers. This may take the form of physical injury, sexual 
abuse, developmental impairment, neglect or emotional abuse. The 
increasing prevalence of drug and alcohol misuse by parents significantly 
impacts on child protection numbers. Increased awareness of the impact of 
domestic violence on children’s self-image and confidence has widened the 
scope of child protection to include those children affected. Domestic violence 
is one of the most common reasons for cases being brought to conference. 
However, the number of children in need of protection relative to the total child 
population remains very small. 

 
3.3. Child protection involves the identification and multi-agency assessment of 

the care provided to children who may be at risk of harm from their parents/ 
carers, together with the development of a plan to reduce the risk of harm to 
those children by the coordination and provision of services. Child protection 
also requires continuous monitoring of the effectiveness of this plan, and 
prompt action to seek a court order to remove children in those circumstances 
where the level of risk cannot be satisfactorily mitigated. 

 
4. PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT & SAFEGUARDING TRAINING 

ACROSS THE PROFESSIONAL NETWORK 

 Professional Development Within Children’s Services 
4.1 Staff working within children’s services have access to a wide range of 

learning and professional development opportunities provided by: The Local 
Safeguarding Children Board, corporate leaning and development 
programmes, the west London social work programme and the children’s 
services programme. 

4.2 Each year a training needs analysis is carried out by the workforce 
development team; this involves talking to managers, social workers, Children 
in Care Councils, youth forums and partner agencies. 

4.3 The following are key contributing factors to the programme design:  

 Needs identified by Directors, Service Managers, Team Managers, 
Social Workers and other staff – these will be captured via the annual 
training needs analysis meetings and through the results of the annual 
your voice staff survey. 

 Responding to recommendations from serious case reviews (SCR), 
case audits and action plans. 

 Learning from Complaints  

 Responding to changes in legislation and guidance and national 
reports and reviews. 

Page 9



4.4 Programme Elements / Design Principles - The programme is designed to 
incorporate all learning styles and to support the workforce in developing the 
skills and knowledge required to work competently and confidently within their 
role. 

4.5 Core Training Programme for Frontline Practitioners programme has been 
designed to complement the modules that are offered in the west London and 
LSCB training programmes. Sessions are commissioned based on the 
training needs analysis and will complement the range of other options 
outlined to enable staff to access development opportunities which will help to 
enhance practice and service delivery.   

4.6 Assessed and Supported Year in Practice (ASYE) - All newly qualified social 
workers (NQSWs) are expected to complete the ASYE. The same programme 
is delivered consistently by all boroughs in west London. The focus of the 
programme is to enable a year of transition from student to qualified social 
worker involving a holistic assessment in line with the professional capability 
framework (PCF). 

4.7 Post Qualifying (PQ) Awards - All social workers are eligible to continue their 
learning by studying for a post-qualifying award. The post qualifying 
framework allows social workers and managers to continue their education 
and training in a flexible and modular way. They build on social work 
qualifications and are relevant to all social workers once the NQSW year has 
been completed. We are committed to ensuring that all social workers have 
the opportunity to complete the consolidation and enabling others modules.  

4.8 In addition to the above all staff have access to a range of research resources 
to assist them in carrying out their work. Each team has a CC inform license 
this resource makes professionally-critical information available. A wealth of 
expert-written content is available to help practitioners expand their 
knowledge base and evidence their decisions. We also have membership to 
Making Research Count a network comprising the social work departments of 
10 English universities. Membership includes access to a continuing 
programme of conferences, seminars and workshops. 

Focus on Practice: Developing our front-line social workers and 
practitioners 

4.9  Focus on Practice is our project funded by the Department for Education 
(DfE) Innovation Fund for the development of more purposeful practice and 
effective interventions with families. 

4.10 Launched in October 2014, the programme covers our work with children and 
families in all areas of children’s social care, and includes both social workers 
and other allied practitioners who work within early help, with children in need, 
in child protection, with looked after children or those leaving care, with 
disabled children and with teenagers and young offenders. The core objective 
of Focus on Practice is for social workers and other practitioners to use their 
professional expertise to help create positive change for families and better 
outcomes for children and young people. Over the next three years, we 
expect to see a reduction in the number of children looked after and those 

Page 10



subject to child protection plans, and more effective interventions with families 
resulting in fewer re-referrals to our services. 

4.11 In order to achieve this, we are building on the knowledge, confidence and 
expertise of practitioners and managers in order that they are more effective 
in creating changes for families, mobilising the strengths within families, and 
moving away from a model of case management and ‘watching and waiting.’ 
Practitioners will work intensively with families to solve problems and change 
behaviours, rather than referring out to others unnecessarily.  

4.12 From 2015 evidence based programmes, around four key methodologies 
(systemic thinking, Motivational Interviewing, Signs of Safety and parenting 
programmes) are providing the foundation for the in-house training provision 
for social workers and frontline practitioners. Practitioners will have a “tool-kit” 
of interventions which they can draw on and use to ensure that they are able 
to intervene effectively with the children and families in their caseloads. 

4.13 The table below details the number of practitioners, managers and leaders 
from Family Services in Hammersmith and Fulham who have undertaken the 
systemic element of the Focus on Practice skills programme in 2015. 
 

Programme Title  Number Started in 2015 

Systemic Practice  95 

Systemic Supervision  14 

Systemic Leadership  7 

 
 Feedback From Staff 
4.14 “I started in H&F as a locum team manager [in the Contact and assessment 

Service] and I had come with some prior experience of systemic learning. I 
was quite excited from the start with the plans to move towards a more 
systemic approach to practice and the training opportunities that this would 
provide. I really wanted to be a part of this journey as I strongly believe that 
developing this approach would enable  workers to strengthen their practice 
and build better relationships with families from the first point of contact. The 
shift towards this way of practice and H&F’s commitment to this was an 
important part in my decision to apply to become a permanent member of the 
management team. 

Case Study 
4.15 Billy (not his real name) is a 14 year old boy came into care aged 8 following 

chronic neglect relating to parental alcohol drug issues. He has had Multiple 
placement breakdowns (10+) and placements in specialist residential units – 
consideration was given to secure accommodation. Billy’s mother has 
addressed her alcohol issues and despite a difficult relationship has remained 
in constant contact with Billy – both have expressed they want to resume 
living together, but difficulties arose because of how far away Billy’s mother 
lives. Billy’s social worker has sought support from the clinical team in LBHF. 
Together, an intensive 10 week intervention was devised, comprising joint 
sessions with social worker and family, individual sessions with a clinical 
psychologist and mother, telephone/ skype contact with mother in between 
session consultations and therapeutic letters to Billy between sessions. By 

Page 11



offering this intervention we can allow Billy and  his mum a chance to 
reconnect in a supportive context and think together about managing 
difficulties and distress, thereby reducing the likelihood of further placement 
disruptions. 

 
Feedback from a mother in LBHF 

4.16 “I have had involvement on and off with Social Services for a number of years. 
It never felt as if they had any understanding or empathy of where I was 
coming from or the situation my family was in. They seemed very quick to see 
my failings but rarely did they see anything that I did well. Social Services 
were people I had to fight against to survive. I felt like a complete failure as a 
parent and as a human being. 

 
4.17 Since the systemic family therapists have been working alongside Social 

Services things seem to have changed a great deal for the better. They are 
more able to think outside the box, are less rigid and now realise that a ‘one 
solution fits all’ approach is ineffective in achieving any kind of lasting change. 
They praise me for the progress I have made and I leave our meetings feeling 
as if I am getting somewhere. 

4.18 The social workers feel more approachable and I am working with them rather 
than against them. I am given practical solutions which we work out together. 
We still have difficult days but I now live with a sense of hope that things are 
improving and will continue to do so. I now believe in my abilities as a parent 
and feel I am being treated with dignity and respect. I feel supported and 
cared for and no longer feel alone.” 

 Safeguarding Training in Schools and Education 
4.19 As part of the Continuous Professional Development Programme for 2014/15 

two ‘Training the Trainers’ safeguarding and child protection courses were 
made available in October and December 2014, with the aim of supporting 
schools to begin developing the capacity to deliver their own annual refresher 
safeguarding and child protection training to all staff through the Designated 
Safeguarding Leads. The sessions were designed to both equip and enable 
Designated Safeguarding Leads to deliver safeguarding and child protection 
training directly to teaching and non-teaching colleagues within the school 
context – in line with the DfE statutory guidance “Keeping Children Safe in 
Education” which states that it is acceptable for training on safeguarding and 
child protection to be delivered by the designated lead for safeguarding in the 
school. To support schools in delivering on their responsibility to ensure all 
staff are provided with regular training, a resource pack is being developed for 
schools to use where needed and helpful. Once available, the resource pack 
can be used/adapted/tailored accordingly by the Designated Safeguarding 
Leads to enable them to deliver annual refresher safeguarding and child 
protection training to staff (teaching and non-teaching), covering the legal and 
procedural framework for safeguarding pupils, effective multi-agency working 
practices and participation within Child Protection Conferences as well as 
Core Group Meetings.  

4.20 Key school staff (Head Teachers, Designated Safeguarding Leads for 
safeguarding, Designated Governors and newly Qualified Teachers) 

Page 12



continued to have access to centralised training. Centralised training is 
delivered by Hilary Shaw (Tri Borough Safeguarding and Child Protection, 
Schools and Education) along with other select trainers to ensure that key 
staff continue to have access to relevant courses in order to remain totally up 
to date on statutory safeguarding matters and requirements. The training on 
offer are as follows: 

 Safeguarding and Child Protection training for Designated 
Safeguarding Leads and Designated Governors. 

 Safer Recruitment for Governors and Designated Safeguarding Leads 
and members of Senior Leadership Team. 

 E-Safety for Designated Safeguarding Leads and Governors. 
 
 Multi-Agency Training (LSCB) 
4.21 The LSCB offers a range of different training, in our mandatory category we 

have Introduction to Safeguarding Training (1/2 day) and Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Training (1 day), through to specialist workshops on a variety of 
topics such as Child Sexual Exploitation, Domestic Abuse and Harmful 
Practices, as well as managerial training on Supervision and  Safer 
Recruitment and Meet the LADO workshops. 

 
 Voluntary Sector Engagement 
4.22 The LSCB trainer has worked closely with the LSCB Community Development 

Worker for Faith and Voluntary Sectors to promote increased take-up of multi-
agency training by the voluntary and community sectors across all three 
boroughs. We promoted the LSCB training programme at the conference that 
the LSCB Community Development Officer led on in May 2014 and spoke 
with a range of participants about how accessible some of the LSCB training 
is to their workforce. Subsequently, further work was done to offer training on 
a range of days of the week and at different times, including twilight sessions 
and weekends in the 2015-2016 training programme. 

 
 Further Awareness Raising 
4.23 Serious Case and other Reviews are carried out so that agencies and 

individuals can learn lessons to improve the way in which they work to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children. The LSCB Learning Review 
Newsletter identifies key learning points which should inform our practice 
when working with vulnerable children and their families. The Newsletter is 
distributed to all Children’s Services staff and also partner and voluntary 
agencies via the Hammersmith & Fulham Safeguarding Partnership Group. 

 
4.24 Learning & Improvement Report brings together different sources of Quality 

Assurance data and information in order to provide a framework for learning 
about how effectively our practice and systems are working to support and 
protect children in Hammersmith & Fulham. 

 
5. Activity Summary 

 
5.1 Between 1st April 2014 and 31st March 2015, there were 1, 957 referrals to 

children’s social care, which in turn led to 1,532 Child & Family Assessments 
being undertaken. 

Page 13



 
5.2  Where child protection concerns were identified 544 s47 investigations were 

undertaken.  Where ongoing concerns were established this resulted in 199 
Initial Child Protection Conferences (ICPC) being held within the period. 

 
5.3 169 children were subject to child protection plans at 31st March 2015. 
 

Referrals 
5.4 Over the last three years there have been variations in the numbers of 

referrals received. An increase in 2012-13, a reduction in 2013-14 and 
increase in 2014-15. From the most recent published national data ( 2013-14) 
the Hammersmith & Fulham referral rate per 10,000 of the child population 
was higher than London and below the England rate. 

 
5.5 Of the thirteen inner London boroughs Hammersmith & Fulham had the fourth 

highest rates. During 2014-15, 16.2% of referrals in Hammersmith & Fulham 
were re-referrals (within 12 months of the previous referral) this was the third 
highest of the of the thirteen inner London boroughs. Of our local and 
statistical neighbours only Kensington and Chelsea had higher re-referral 
rates. 

 
 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 

LBHF Referral numbers 1881 1782 1957 

LBHF Referral numbers per 10k 578.5 548.1 579.4 

England Referral numbers per 10k 520.7 573.0 548.3 

London Referral numbers per 10k 458.5 469.6 477.9 

LBHF % Re-referrals within 12 months 17.2% 15.1% 16.2% 

 
Local authority 2014-15 Rate per 10,000  2014-15 % within 12 months 

of a previous referral 

Wandsworth 386.2 14.2 

Westminster 411.4 8.7 

Camden 470.3 15.8 

Hammersmith and 
Fulham 579.4 16.2 

Islington 634.8 12.4 

Kensington and 
Chelsea 830.1 25.8 

 
Assessments 

5.6 Over the last three years there have been variations in the numbers of     
assessments completed with the highest numbers in 2014-15 and was the 
third highest of the London boroughs and above both the England and 
London rates. In comparison to our local and statistical neighbours only 
Islington had a higher rate of assessments. 

 
 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 

Numbers 1603 1651 1892 

Rate per 10,000  
child population (LBHF) 

481.4 497.3 560.1 

England N/A single 
assessments pilot 

N/A single 
assessments pilot 

475.2 

London N/A single N/A single 442.3 

Page 14



assessments pilot assessments pilot 

 
Local authority 2014-15 Rate per 10,000  

Wandsworth 342.0 

Westminster 369.8 

Kensington and Chelsea 397.9 

Camden 409.1 

Hammersmith and Fulham 560.1 

Islington 626.9 

 
 Strategy Discussions - S47’s & ICPC 
5.7 Where child protection concerns were identified 672 strategy discussions 

were completed during the period and this led to 544 Section 47 
investigations. This is rate of S47’s higher than the previous 2 years. Of the 
thirteen Inner London boroughs, the Hammersmith & Fulham rate of S47’s 
was mid-range. Where ongoing concerns were established this resulted in 
199 Initial Child Protection Conferences (ICPC) being held within the period. 
This is lower than in 2012-13 (219) but higher than the preceding 2 years. 

 
S47 Investigations 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 

LBHF Number of Section 47 Investigations  517 501 544 

LBHF Rate per 10,000 of child population 155 154 161.4 

England 111.5 124.1 138.2 

London 107 111.9 137.0 

 

LBHF Number of ICPCs 

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 

187 181 219 199 

 
 
 Child Protection 
5.8 Child protection numbers increased year on year over the last three years and 

peaked at 194 in December 2014. Rates per 10,000 of the child population 
were higher than England and London. However, despite increasing numbers 
there were five Inner London boroughs with higher rates as at 31st March 
2015. In relation to statistical neighbours only Camden had higher rates. 

 

CP Numbers 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 

LBHF 142 161 169 

 

CP numbers per 10,000 
population 

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 

LBHF 43.7 49.5 50.0 

England 37.9 42.1 42.9 

London 34.8 37.4 40.6 

 

Local authority CP Numbers per 10,000 children  

Westminster 27.8 

Wandsworth 32.3 

Page 15



Islington 43.7 

Hammersmith and Fulham 50.0 

Camden 51.2 

 
CP plans last 2 or more years (of those ceasing) 

5.9 Over the last three years there has been significant reductions in the rate of 
child protection plans ending which had a duration of 2 years, with rates now 
below both England and London and one of the lowest of the London 
boroughs. 

 
CP plans last 2 or more years (of those ceasing) 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 

LBHF 13.2% 0.0% 2.2% 

England 5.0%  2.6% 3.7% 

London 7.0%  3.6% 4.4% 

 
5.10 The end of year figures show that the majority of current CP plans had  been 

open for 7-12 months. 76% of plans were had been open for 1 year or less. 2 
plans remained open at the end of March. Those approaching the 2 year time 
frame are reviewed and monitored closely and where appropriate, 
conferences brought forward to end the plan.  

 
5.11 All cases which have been subject to CP plan for 9 months plus are reviewed 

at the CP and Complex Cases Panel. This meeting also provides a multi-
agency contribution to cases which are stuck or are complex and assists with 
the direction and planning of those cases. The panel is chaired jointly by the 
Head of Service, Family Support & Child Protection and the Service Manager, 
Safeguarding. Panel members are comprised of partners from Police, Health, 
CAMHS (when possible) Family Assist and more recently the Focus on 
Practice Clinical Lead. Cases are presented by Social Workers and team 
managers. Child Protection Advisors also attend in relation to cases where 
they chair the conferences.  

 
5.12 This panel has been effective in identifying cases prior to conference where 

step down is a likely outcome as well as escalating those cases which are 
clearly not progressing, thereby preventing drift. The Impact of this panel can 
be seen in the successful reduction and sustaining of low numbers of cases 
approaching or going over 2 years on Child Protection Plan. 

 
Proceedings 

5.13 There has been a decline in the number of care applications issued in 
Hammersmith & Fulham over the last three years. During 2014-15 the median 
duration for care proceeding cases in LBHF was 29.5 weeks. This is 
marginally longer than the directive from the President of the Family Division 
that 60% - 70% of cases are to conclude in 26 weeks or less. However, 
reasons for delay included complex fact finding, split care planning for 
children, care proceedings running alongside criminal investigations and 
further testing of parents in the community. 

 
2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015 

Page 16



(Pre-pilot Year) (Pilot Year)   

52 52 44 
(70 children) 

33 
(51 children) 

 
6. Themes 
 

CP Numbers 
6.1 Child protection numbers in H&F rose steadily and significantly between 

November 2013 (138) and February 2015 (192). This was substantially higher 
than the previous 2 years and considerably higher than our London 
neighbours. 

 
6.2 In response to this significant rise in CP numbers the Service Manager, 

Safeguarding and Heads of Service worked together to try and understand 
why this had occurred. An audit of all ICPC’s referrals, received during 
specific referral spikes, was undertaken by the Service Manager, 
Safeguarding and a threshold audit was completed by an external consultant. 
The Heads of Services were also engaged in analysing data, practice and 
possible influences in attempt to halt the trend. In December 2014 the Service 
Manager, Safeguarding completed a review and provided an analysis report 
which concluded that it was not possible to identify any one cause but that 
there were a number of influences which when combined resulted in higher 
numbers of CP plans.  

 
6.3 Of those influences thresholds and key changes in staff – front line managers 

and child protection chairs were considered to be significant factors.  
 
6.4 The number of plans ending was also low in comparison to previous years 

and suggested that the ending of plans was lagging. Analysis of RCPC’s 
suggested that there was a need for a more robust application of the 
threshold criteria for CP plans. There was some evidence that cases were 
being maintained at CP status when there had been significant progress and 
where it was felt the case could be managed under a CIN framework. 

 
6.5 During the period of high CP numbers strategies were identified and 

implemented to safely manage demands and reduce activity and it was 
predicted that with the ongoing implementation of strategies and a number of 
cases expected to reach their natural conclusion there would be a significant 
reduction in CP numbers by the end of March 2015. 

 
6.6 At the end of March 2015 numbers had, as predicted, reduced to 169. With 

the downwards trajectory predicted to continue to a maintenance level of 
between 110 and 120.  

 
Thresholds 

6.7 On undertaking the CP numbers review it became apparent that there was an 
inconsistency in the thresholds being applied across the organisation. As a 
result a significant piece of work with Child Protection Advisors and front line 
managers was undertaken to establish consistency. The implementation of 

Page 17



the Strengthening Families Conference model has been significant in the 
application of thresholds as has Child Protection Advisors working closely with 
front line teams to provide safeguarding support and consultation. 

 
6.8 Ensuring that our partners were brought along on this journey has been 

important. The Threshold of Need document has been circulated to all partner 
and third sector agencies and presentations have been delivered to support 
this in a variety of settings. 

 
Quality of Plans 

6.9 The quality of CP plans has been an issue for most authorities with concerns 
that they are too long; do not focus sufficiently on reducing risk; are to action 
focused and are overwhelming for parents. The implementation of the 
Strengthening Families conference model has brought this into greater focus 
and work has commenced to improve child protection plans in Hammersmith 
& Fulham. 
 
Strengthening Families Conference Model 

6.10 A child protection conference is held to consider information about children’s 
circumstances, to decide whether they are suffering or likely to suffer 
significant harm and to make a plan to ensure they are safe and their welfare 
is promoted. 

 
6.11  At Conferences information about the children and their parent’s capacity to 

safely care for them within the context of wider family support and their 
environment, will be shared and analysed. Judgments will be made about the 
likelihood of children suffering significant harm in the future and decisions will 
be made about what action is needed to safeguard and promote their welfare. 

 
6.12 The Strengthening Families approach is based on Signs of Safety model of 

practice originally developed by Steve Edwards and Andrew Turnell on ‘Signs 
of Safety’ (1999) and was implemented in Hammersmith & Fulham in 
September 2014. 

 
6.13 The model seeks to strengthen risk assessment and maximise family 

participation, to improve outcomes for children. Further it assists all 
participants to be more engaged in the development and implementation of a 
Child Protection plan. 

 
6.14 It requires professionals to be clear and concise in the way they gather and, 

present information and contribute to the conference. The overall aim is to 
ensure that parents, children and professionals are working positively together 
to ensure that the main aim is achieved, that is; the safety of children. The 
model brings this together into a format which maps the harm, danger, 
complicating factors, strengths and existing and required safety and informs 
the child protection intervention. 

 
6.15 The approach is open and encourages transparent decision-making. 

Professionals have to be specific about their concerns for the child’s safety 
and this encourages better presentation of evidence. Once set out, the risks 

Page 18



did not have to continually be revisited but are measured against the safety 
and protective factors that are identified. 

 
6.16 It is consistent with developing clear, outcome, focused plans which are 

understood and owned by all parties. Plans are focused on outcomes that are 
specifically aimed at reducing risks rather than a list of actions. 

 
6.17 At the conference the information shared is written up on a whiteboard under 

the relevant domains, by the Chair. This visual approach is helpful in 
highlighting the risks and safety and facilitates a better analysis of risk and 
harm. 

 
Impact of the Strengthening Families Model 

6.18 Since the implementation of the model we have noted a number of positive 
changes: 

• Parent’s understanding of the risks has improved and this impacts on 
their willingness to work with and engage with safeguarding plans 

• Parents say they are clearer about what is expected of them and 
receive more relevant support  

• Consistent thresholds have been easier to maintain 
• Children are no longer remaining subject to a CP plan longer than is 

necessary 
• Contributory factor in the reduction of CP numbers 

 
Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 

6.19  In Hammersmith & Fulham, a specific service for CSE has been in place since 
2008. This has included the commissioning of a specialist service from 
Barnardo’s and a multi-agency panel to oversee relevant cases. 

 
6.20 A nominated Child Protection Adviser has an additional CSE Lead role, which 

during the year, has developed and expanded as awareness and 
expectations in relation to the identification and response to CSE has grown. 
The role includes chairing the CSE panel and CSE mapping meetings as well 
as providing specialist advice on individual cases. The CSE Lead also attends 
other relevant panels such as Tri-Borough MASE, Tri-Borough CSE data 
meetings, the Gangs Partnership and the YOS Deter panel, and this has led 
to the development of a strong and effective collaboration with services and 
partners. 

 
6.21 This collaboration enables prompt and valuable information sharing which has 

facilitated the identification of potential victims and perpetrators, their profiles 
and networks and also locations of concern within the borough. A partnership 
with the West London Centre for Sexual Health has also been developed 
which has further enhanced our work regarding the identification of and 
response to CSE. 

 
CSE Panel 

6.22 The CSE panel is a multi-agency meeting chaired by the CSE lead and 
attended by the police, sexual health workers, Barnardos and Anti-Social 
Behaviour Unit. The panel is held on a monthly basis and using the risk 

Page 19



assessment tool considers new referrals, agrees plans and reviews actions 
and outcomes on previous cases. Based on the level of risk cases are 
categorised as Blue (vulnerable to CSE) or category 1, 2 or 3 (3 being the 
highest risk). Category Blue was introduced in 2014/15 to enable a wider 
degree of monitoring and tracking and provide evidence of preventative work. 

 
 Mapping Meetings 
6.23 Mapping meetings were established in 2014 in response to a need identify 

links between persons of concern, their associates and victims. These 
meetings have become essential forums for intelligence sharing and we have 
been successful in identifying patterns and relationships. This information has 
been shared with MASE and this has in turn led to targeted interventions to 
disrupt offending activity, identified and protected vulnerable young people, 
the identification and naming of locations of concern and the exposure of a 
network of adolescents involved in peer on peer CSE. 

 
Interventions 

6.24 Hammersmith & Fulham has continued to offer and range of interventions and 
responses to victims of or those vulnerable to CSE. Barnardos and sexual 
health workers provide outreach support to young people and their 
parents/carers to reduce risks and vulnerabilities. CSE plans are developed 
with the lead practitioner working with the young person and form part of the 
wider planning and interventions. 

 
6.25 The profile of CSE offending in Hammersmith & Fulham relates in the main to 

peer on peer abuse. Interventions to reduce such offending remains largely 
police led and is an area for development in Hammersmith & Fulham. There 
are very few resources available which target perpetrators of CSE, particularly 
those under 18, or those on the periphery of such behaviour. However, where 
opportunities to work with these young people exist, focused work is 
undertaken to address their behaviour with some success. Whilst community 
based resources are limited it should also be noted that as a result of strong 
information and intelligence sharing in Hammersmith & Fulham the police 
have been able to obtain a range of new Orders, which have successfully 
disrupted and prevented high profile individuals from re-offending. 

 
Raising Awareness 

6.26 Throughout 2014 – 2015 the CSE Lead has continued to raise the profile of 
CSE and increase the knowledge and understanding of Children’s Services 
staff. The CSE Lead has provided “bite size” sessions for Family Services 
staff and training for foster carers has been developed in conjunction with 
Barnardos. The LSCB provides a range of courses available to all agencies 
including Barnardo’s Be Wise to Sexual Exploitation training, a Girls, Gangs 
and Sexual Violence course, a course entitled Sexual Exploitation: identifying 
the needs and risks to children and an Advanced Skills Workshop for 
Supervisors on CSE. Barnardos continues to provide consultation and 
outreach support to schools within the borough. 

 
 
 

Page 20



CSE Case Examples 
 
Case C – Victim 
 
Concern 
C is a 16 year old male of dual heritage of white / afro Caribbean who was 
living at home with his mother and three siblings. C was thrown out of the 
family home by mother because he is gay. He made a disclosure to family 
member that he had been raped by two males and during the workers 
engagement with C he disclosed that he met with an older male for sexual 
intercourse for which he was given £50 and a mobile phone. C further 
disclosed that he was using a sex app (on Social Media) where he met older 
males for sex and was receiving money and gifts in return. C was self-
harming and had suicidal ideation. C was presented at MASE and deemed to 
be a CAT 2 risk. He was also and presented at the CSE panel where a plan of 
intervention was agreed. 
 
Interventions 

• Intense direct work with C was undertaken by the Family Assist 
Practitioner and Sexual Health Worker. As well as targeted CSE work C 
was provided with practical and emotional support around his emotional 
and mental health. 

• Mediation between C’s family and services. 
• Mediation between C and his family. 

 
Outcomes 

• Risk of CSE reduced.  
• C is no longer meeting older men and is no longer receiving gifts such as 

money and phones etc. from unknown men. 
• C’s awareness and understanding of safe and consensual sex has 

greatly improved, also the risks and dangers associated around 
unprotected sex. 

• C’s risk of STI’s including high risk of HIV reduced. 
• C’s knowledge and awareness of risks and vulnerabilities has increased 

which includes his ability to identify and manage risky situations. 
• C has returned home and relationships have improved with his family. 
• C’s mother’s understanding of CSE has improved as well as her ability to 

manage and monitoring her son’s mental health and general wellbeing. 
• C is back in full time education and is in his second year of college. 
• C’s self-esteem and confidence has improved as have his physical and 

emotional health. 
• There have been no further episodes of self-harm or disclosures of 

suicidal Ideation. 
 

Case D – Perpetrator 
 
Concern 
D was involved in peer on peer CSE on victims across the three Boroughs 
with other well-known young people also involved in perpetrating CSE. As a 
result of direct allegations and his associations with high risk (CSE) 

Page 21



individuals D was discussed at the CSE Mapping Meeting and presented at 
MASE, where he was identified as a ‘person of concern’. D was also involved 
in anti-social behaviour and known to YOS.  
 
D’s family have been involved with social care for non-attendance at school 
and inappropriate chastisement of the children. The family received input from 
the Early Help Services in relation to non-school attendance and the children 
were subject to CP plans under emotional abuse. As well as social work 
support the family received input from MST (Multi-Systemic Therapy) and the 
Family Coaching Service in relation to routines, boundaries and creating a 
stable home environment for both children.  
  
Interventions 
Targeted CSE work was undertaken with D by the social worker and mentor 
(family member).  
Work focused on: 

• The issue of consent – what it is and his understanding of consent 
regardless of the type of sexual act. The Social Worker was successful in 
engaging a male family member to act as a mentor and support the work 
around D’s understanding of consent. 

• Use of social media. 
• The impact of engaging in anti-social and potential offending behaviour 

on his outcomes. 
• The impact of his behaviours on others. 

 
Outcomes 

• D has not re-offended since the original concern came to light (just over 
6 months)  

• The work has been successful in developing D’s understanding of 
consent and the impact his actions have on others 

• D has developed aspirations and wants to go to university 
• D has stated “he will not be going near woman until at least 65, as he 

does not want to prevent his chances to go to university. 
 

 Community and Voluntary Organisation Engagement 
6.27 In May 2014 The Community Development Worker, in liaison with various 

voluntary and community organisations, coordinated an event to build links 
with local safeguarding leads and provide information and guidance on 
safeguarding issues. The event was organised around the requests and 
needs of the voluntary and faith organisations and focused on thresholds for 
safeguarding, the referral process and how concerns are managed by 
statutory services. The event was a great success and became a stepping 
stone to improved relationships with voluntary and community organisations. 
Following the event representatives from the umbrella organisations have 
become standing members of the Hammersmith & Fulham Safeguarding 
Partnership Group. 

 
6.28 Together with the FGM Male Outreach Worker, The Community Development 

Worker has met with a group of Community Leaders from the Somalian 
Community and will continue to meet on a quarterly basis. The focus of these 

Page 22



meetings is to raise awareness around Safeguarding and provide support to 
them as an organisation. The work with Somalian Community Group began in 
December 2014 and meetings have been held in Hammersmith and White 
City. Two work-shops on Safeguarding have also been held. A “Safeguarding 
Awareness Raising for Supplementary School Teachers” [including Mosques 
and Madrassas] was held in February 2015 and a further meeting with 
Somalian mothers in the White City area was held at the end of March. The 
sessions were well received and participants will be going onto Safeguarding 
Level 1 Training. Safeguarding packs have been sent to all the known 
supplementary schools in Hammersmith & Fulham, including key 
safeguarding contacts. A Child Protection Advisor, who has a Faith & Culture 
Lead role, has supported the delivery of this work. 

 
 Management of Allegations Against Professionals – LADO 
6.29 The LADO is responsible for managing all allegations against professionals in 

LBHF, who work with children or who are in a position of trust. The LADO 
provides specialist advice, support and consultation to all multi-agency service 
heads, chairs strategy meetings and oversees all investigation against 
professionals. The LADO also has responsibilities for safer recruitment. 

 
6.30 Allegations against professionals are in the main managed locally by 

Hammersmith & Fulham Child Protection Advisors and overseen by the 
Shared Services LADO. The Service Manager, Safeguarding and the 
Safeguarding in Schools and Education Manager, also provide support to the 
management of allegations in Hammersmith & Fulham. In 2014-15 there were 
allegations 68 against professionals which related to both professionals and 
volunteers. 

 
7. Work focus for 2015-16 

• Improving the quality of child protection plans  
• Continue to improve awareness, understanding and response to CSE 
• Continue to strengthen the relationship between Children’s Services and 

local communities 
• Exploring and developing alternative approaches to safeguarding 

adolescents at risk 
• Embed learning and implement changes arising from Serious Case 

Reviews and other reviews to improve safeguarding. 

7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 All equalities issues (race gender, religion etc.) are taken into account when 
assessing and intervening in families - care is taken to ensure that children's 
needs are the paramount issue. 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 
None. 

Page 23



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

CHILDREN AND EDUCATION POLICY & 
ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
23 November 2015  

 

LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2015/16 
 

Report of the Independent Chair of the Local Safeguarding Children Board 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification: For Information and Review 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Andrew Christie, Executive Director of Children’s 
Services 
 

Report Author: Steve Bywater, Policy Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 5809 
steve.bywater@lbhf.gov.uk   

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to introduce members of the Children and 

Education Policy and Accountability Committee to the Annual Report of the 
Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB). The Annual Report provides a 
detailed overview of the work of the LSCB in 2014/15 including progress with 
the priorities identified in its Business Plan. It includes an assessment of the 
impact made by the Board’s activity and the priorities it needs to pursue in 
2015/16 and beyond where further progress is required. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. The Committee is asked to review and comment upon the contents of this 
report and the LSCB Annual Report which is included as an appendix. 

 
3. BACKGROUND 

3.1. LSCBs have a statutory obligation to compile and publish an annual report. 
The 2014/15 Annual Report provides an assessment of the effectiveness of 
local arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. It 
summarises progress that has been made by the LSCB covering the areas of 
Hammersmith & Fulham, Kensington and Chelsea and the City of 
Westminster. The report illustrates the extent to which the functions of the 
LSCB, as set out in Working Together 2015, are being effectively discharged. 

Page 24

Agenda Item 6

mailto:steve.bywater@lbhf.gov.uk


 
3.2. The LSCB covering three boroughs has been in place since 2012. The full 

Board meets at least four times a year and there is an established structure of 
multi-agency sub-groups leading on specific issues. Hammersmith & Fulham 
maintains a local Partnership Group, chaired by the Safeguarding Service 
Manager to ensure local issues are considered and a wide range of agencies 
are involved in developments relating to safeguarding. The Annual Report 
identifies ways in which the Partnership Group can play a more significant role 
in taking forward the LSCB’s Safeguarding Plan going forward. 

 
3.3. Safeguarding children requires all agencies working with children and their 

families to work together by identifying children who may be at risk of harm, 
by pooling information to ensure that the clearest possible picture of family 
functioning and risk to children is obtained, by providing services to reduce 
the risk of harm to children and by monitoring children to ensure that the risks 
are reducing. The LSCB key function has been to ensure that the work of 
these agencies is coordinated and effective. 

4. THE ANNUAL REPORT 

4.1. The Annual Report has particularly focused on the priorities identified in its 
2014/15 Business Plan reviewing progress made, identifying impact on 
children, families and the multi-agency workforce. It also confirms areas for 
ongoing development in the current year and beyond. The report includes a 
summary of the local child population, including those who are vulnerable and 
a review of the core functions of the LSCB. 

4.2. Ongoing safeguarding issues such as early help and prevention of harm and 
delivering better outcomes for children subject to child protection plans and 
those looked after are reviewed in the report. In addition the report considers 
progress made with particular issues which have developed a higher profile in 
recent years including the radicalisation of children and young people, female 
genital mutilation (FGM), child sexual exploitation (CSE), children who go 
missing and e-safety. 

4.3. In the last year the Board has also prioritised a number of areas to ensure 
continuous improvement at a time of significant change. This includes the 
development of stronger working relationships with the Safeguarding Adults 
Board and Health and Wellbeing Board. How the LSCB engages with children 
and young people has been reviewed including progress made through a 
range of surveys and consultation exercises. 

4.4. There has been a particular priority to improve the way the LSCB 
communicates with the large multi-agency workforce and the wider 
community. This has included the organisation of a number of events, the 
publication of bulletins or newsletters and the finalisation of a shared LSCB 
website.  

4.5. Another key activity covered by the report is the Child Death Overview Panel 
which considers circumstances relating to the deaths of children as well as 
any local or regional learning which has emerged from this overview. 

Page 25



4.6. The LSCB commissions and oversees Serious Case Reviews (SCRs) where 
abuse or neglect of a child is suspected and the child has died or has been 
seriously harmed and there is a cause for concern for how agencies have 
worked together to safeguard the child. The report describes progress with 
two SCRs which commenced in the three boroughs as well as actions taken 
in relation to a SCR which concluded. An important aspect of SCRs is to 
identify learning to reduce the chances of similar situations arising in future 
and to ensure that this learning is well communicated to staff in all agencies 
and has an impact on practice. The Annual Report summarises learning from 
SCRs and other reviews from the past year which includes the need to avoid 
“compartmentalising” cases which can stifle thinking about the wider needs of 
children. There has also been learning in relation to working with mobile 
families, children in need, adoptive families and other “permanency” 
arrangements, emotional attachment disorders, concealed pregnancies and 
how schools can best respond to drug use amongst pupils. 

4.7. The report also provides an overview of other key functions of the LSCB 
including Quality Assurance, the role of the Local Authority Designated Officer 
(LADO) who provides a coordinated and consistent approach to the 
management of allegations made against adults working with children, 
complaints and training. 

5. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

5.1. The Annual Report describes actions to improve safeguarding for a number of 
groups within local communities, many of which comprise significant numbers 
of people with protected characteristics. This is particularly the case for the 
protected characteristics of sex and race. Where relevant, it describes 
services which have been developed to engage and specifically meet the 
needs of such groups. 

 
6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1. Section 13 of the Children Act 2004 requires each local authority to establish 
a Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) for their area and specifies the 
organisations and individuals (other than the local authority) that should be 
represented on LSCBs. The LSCB has a range of roles and statutory 
functions including developing local safeguarding policy and procedures and 
scrutinising local arrangements. The Chair must publish an annual report on 
the effectiveness of child safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children 
in the local area (this is a statutory requirement under section 14A of the 
Children Act 2004). The annual report should be published in relation to the 
preceding financial year and should fit with local agencies' planning, 
commissioning and budget cycles. The report should be submitted to the 
Chief Executive, Leader of the Council, the local police and crime 
commissioner and the Chair of the health and wellbeing board.  

7. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

7.1. There are no financial implications resulting from this report. 

Page 26



 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 
None. 

 
LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 - LSCB Annual Report 2014/15 

Page 27



 

 

 

  

 

Annual Report 2014/15 

Local Safeguarding Children Board 

For Hammersmith and Fulham, 
Kensington and Chelsea, and 

Westminster 

 

 

Page 28



 

1 
 

Contents 

Foreword .......................................................................................................................................... 2 

Background to the Report ................................................................................................................. 3 

Chapter 1 – Progress on Priority Areas 2014/15................................................................................. 4 

1.1 Early Help and Prevention of Harm .......................................................................................... 4 

1.2 Better Outcomes for Children Subject to Child Protection Plans and those Looked After  ....... 10 

1.3 Practice areas to compare, contrast and improve together .................................................... 14 

1.4 Continuous improvement in a changing landscape ................................................................ 23 

Chapter 2 – The local areas’ safeguarding context ........................................................................... 31 

Local Demographics .................................................................................................................... 31 

2.1 Vulnerable Children and Young People............................................................................. 31 

2.2 Children with a child protection plan ................................................................................ 32 

2.3 Children in Care ............................................................................................................... 32 

2.4 Children who are privately fostered ................................................................................. 32 

2.5 Disabled Children ............................................................................................................. 33 

2.6 Young people at risk of offending ..................................................................................... 33 

2.7 Young people with mental health issues........................................................................... 33 

Chapter 3 – Governance and Accountability .................................................................................... 34 

3.1 What is the LSCB? .................................................................................................................. 34 

3.2 LSCB Structure ....................................................................................................................... 35 

3.3 Key roles................................................................................................................................ 35 

3.4 Organisation of the LSCB ....................................................................................................... 36 

3.5 Key relationships ................................................................................................................... 37 

3.6 Quality Assurance .................................................................................................................. 38 

3.7 Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO)............................................................................. 40 

3.8 Complaints ............................................................................................................................ 41 

3.9 Financial arrangements ......................................................................................................... 41 

Chapter 4 – What happens when a child dies or is seriously harmed? .............................................. 44 

4.1 Child Death Reviews .............................................................................................................. 44 

4.2 Case Reviews ......................................................................................................................... 45 

Chapter 5 – statement of sufficiency and Future Priorities ............................................................... 48 

5.1 Statement of Sufficiency (LSCB Chair) .................................................................................... 48 

5.2 Priorities for 2015/16 ............................................................................................................ 48 

Essential Information .................................................................................................................. 49 

Appendix A board membership ....................................................................................................... 50 

Appendix B LSCB Main board attendance ........................................................................................ 52 

Appendix C LSCB Training offer 2014/15 .......................................................................................... 54 

 

Page 29



 

2 
 

FOREWORD  

By the Independent Chair 
 

This is my third annual report as Independent Chair.  My role tasks me with ensuring 

that the Board fulfils its statutory objectives and functions: the coordination of 

safeguarding work of agencies and ensuring that this is effective.   

 
I am impressed by the dedication and skills of frontline staff and the outcomes for 

children and young people.  Whilst the LSCB (Local Safeguarding Children Board) does 

not commission services directly, we seek to influence services and practice through the 

contribution of Board members and our partnerships. We also take challenge very 

seriously. This often happens in the context within which services are delivered, and 

through the attitudes, values, and behaviours of staff and frontline managers. It also 

happens through the Board's discussions and influence. This year an increased focus on 

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) relates directly to 

the challenge that we have made to one another to protect children from harm. Early 

help and engagement with community organisations have been at the forefront of this.  

 

The LSCB members have carefully reviewed progress over the past year and have 

identified and agreed shared priorities for 2015/16. These priorities are a combination of 

work that we believe requires ongoing attention to ensure a clearer impact as well as a 

focus on emerging issues which need to be on our agenda. In agreeing these priorities 

we have sought to ensure that the work of the LSCB continues to have an impact on the 

effective safeguarding of the diverse children and young people living in the three 

boroughs.  

 
Please read this Annual Report. It may help you to understand the work that we do and 

how it joins up across the agencies. I hope that you will hold the LSCB to account on our 

plans for next year. We are keen to learn when things don't go as well as they should 

and when mistakes are made so that we can make the improvements that are needed 

for children and young people. 

 
Most of the time, work with children and their families goes well and is unnoticed. I 

want to thank staff for the difference that you continue to make in the lives of those 

with whom you work.  

 

Jean Daintith 

Independent Chair 

 

 
 

Page 30



 

3 
 

BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT 

 
Under section 14A of the Children Act 2004 the Independent Chair of the LSCB must publish 
an annual report on the effectiveness of child safeguarding and promoting the welfare of 
children in the local area. The annual report should be published in relation to the preceding 
financial year and should fit with local agencies’ planning, commissioning and budget cycles. 
The report should be submitted to the Chief Executive, Leader of the Council, the local 
police and crime commissioner and the Chair of the Health and Well-being Board. 
 
This report is structured in two parts. Firstly it reviews the activity in the past year to deliver 
the priorities identified in the LSCB’s 2014/15 Business Plan. The second part describes the 
wider context of the LSCB, who it works with, how it is governed and its membership, with 
an overview of a number of its key functions. The report concludes with a summary of the 
LSCB’s priorities for 2015/16, as informed by the review of its effectiveness to date and 
partners’ agreement of what needs to happen next.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



 

4 
 

CHAPTER 1 – PROGRESS ON PRIORITY AREAS 2014/15 

 
The 2014/15 LSCB Business Plan identified four key priority areas for development over the 
year. These included Early Help and the Prevention of Harm; Child Protection and Looked 
After Children; Practice Areas to Compare and Contrast; and Continuous Improvement in a 
Changing Landscape. This section reviews what was done for each of these areas, the 
impact of the work and what needs to happen next to ensure continuing improvement. 
There is a particular focus on a number of particular areas for development which were 
addressed over the year including some high-profile issues which are covered in more detail 
as “spotlights”. Progress on other sub-priorities that were highlighted is reflected elsewhere 
in this report. 
 
1.1 Early Help and Prevention of Harm 
 
The LSCB has a statutory responsibility to assess the effectiveness of help being provided to 
children and families, including “Early Help”. Early Help means providing help for children 
and families as soon as problems start to emerge or when there is a strong likelihood that 
problems will emerge in the future. The 2014/15 business plan priorities therefore reflected 
a need amongst all agencies to improve early help services and the early identification of 
and help for children at risk.  
 
The range of early help services is good in all three boroughs.  The voluntary sector is 
funded to make a significant contribution to this.  Expectations are high from professionals 
about getting a response if a referral is made; and there is challenge if the response is not 
what was expected.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Local Early Help arrangements are effective in preventing harm and keeping 
children safe 
 
What have we done?  
 
An Early Help outcomes framework has been agreed and a single Early Help Offer is now 
available across the three boroughs.  The Threshold of Needs Guidance also incorporates 
thresholds for early help, including identification and assessment.  A recent development is 
the ‘Best Start in Life’ project group across Health and the three Local Authorities who are 

2014/15 Business Plan priorities: 
 Local Early Help arrangements are effective in preventing harm and keeping children 

safe 

 Early Help services are strengthened in relation to identification and response to 

parental mental health and substance misuse 

 Work around safeguarding in relation to faith and belief is embedded and evaluated 

 Schools and voluntary sector identify safeguarding needs leading to timely response 

Page 32



 

5 
 

aiming to integrate a pathway for 0-5 year olds and implement a ‘whole system’ for early 
years.   Each borough has an Early Help Service which provide a range of services including 
universal and targeted provision through Children’s Centres; teams which carry out 
casework with families who have levels of need just below the threshold for children’s social 
care; parenting programmes and joint work with schools, health and the police. 
 
The Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub has assisted in establishing where cases should be 
referred to at the initial stages when they first come into Children’s Social Care promoting 
informed referrals to Early Help Services. 
 
In addition, there have been significant Early Help developments led by a range of agencies 
including: 
 

 The ‘Focus on Practice’ programme started during the year including training from 
January 2015. The wider aim of the programme is to improve the effectiveness of direct 
work with families and key anticipated outcomes are reductions in the number of looked 
after children and reducing referrals to children’s social care. Early help workers in local 
authority services are receiving training in modules in systemic practice, motivational 
interviewing, and parenting theory and skills. The programme is expected to have a 
major effect on the way Early Help is provided, its impact in reducing the need to 
escalate services to statutory services and the need for cases to be re-referred after case 
closure. 

 Imperial Health Care Trust (at  Queen Charlotte’s Hospital and St Mary’s Hospital)  as 
well as partners in Westminster Family Services through the Queens Park Project have 
piloted the National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children (NSPCC’s) 
evidence-based  “Coping with Crying” programme to raise awareness of parents about 
how to cope when their baby cries. A similar programme in the United States was shown 
to have reduced the number of shaken babies or non-accidental head injuries by 47%.  

 The London Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC) is now ensuring that all new 
cases are referred to social services to check whether the person or family are known. 
This process helps to keep the safeguarding of children at the forefront of staff actions 
when working with individual offenders.  

 The LSCB has continued to hear about the impact of welfare reforms on families who 
seek help from the Homeless Person’s Service and considers that, at a local level, the 
implications are as well-managed as they could be, whilst the national system is one that 
impacts disproportionately on London thresholds.  

 The Safeguarding in Schools lead has ensured that guidelines have been circulated on 
when and how to refer a child missing from Education to Early Help services and the ACE 
Team (Attendance, Child employment and entertainment and Elective home education). 
The lead has also promoted awareness in schools of private fostering, and making sure 
schools understand the interface with the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH).  An 
audit tool has been developed and distributed to schools (including independent 
schools) to support the evaluation of the degree to which they meet their safeguarding 
responsibilities. Schools have been prioritised for a comprehensive safeguarding audit 
including an action plan to address any identified gaps or areas requiring strengthening.  

 An LSCB event was held with the Voluntary Sector in May 2014 which strengthened 
their links with the Partnership Groups and LSCB representation within the Voluntary 

Page 33



 

6 
 

Sector fora.  The voluntary and faith sectors’ contacts with a wide range of families 
means they are well placed to offer ‘universal’ help, advice or referral on of children and 
their families to more specialist services.  The involvement of the Community 
Development Worker for Faith and Communities has had a significant role in developing 
this work over the past year. 

 Work initiated by the Westminster Partnership Group regarding parental mental health 
was taken forward by the three Health and Wellbeing Boards who conducted a Task and 
Finish group on Mental Health leading to a local action to improve services. 

 The Integrated Gangs Unit (IGU) in WCC have links with other services across the three 
boroughs and work with young people considered in a short life working group on gangs 
and CSE two years ago. The IGU focuses on diverting young people from gang 
involvement, with particular links with Multi-agency Public Protection Arrangements 
(MAPPA), Police and Children's Services are strong.  The IGU has had considerable 
successes in engaging and safeguarding this difficult to reach group of young people.  

 
What difference has it made? 
 
 LBHF Early Help services have contributed to reductions in numbers of children with 

child protection  plans and those entering care; improved identification and support of 
young people subject to child sexual exploitation; reductions in homelessness amongst 
16 and 17 year olds; improved identification and support of young carers; ensuring that 
only small numbers of families referred need to be “stepped up” to statutory social care 
teams; success in addressing substance misuse amongst young people. 

 RBKC Early Help services have shown an average increase of 11% in school attendance 
for children they have worked with at the point of case closure and an impact on 
reducing the need for cases to be “stepped up”. Monitoring of outcomes has shown that 
on average, outcomes have improved across all dimensions for families worked. There 
has been a particular impact upon meeting emotional needs, education and learning and 
family routine. 

 WCC Early Help services have identified a significant number of children who have been 
supported to remain with their families after previously having been identified as being 
on the “edge of care”. A reduction in the percentage of young people not in education, 
employment or training (NEET) has also been noted following interventions. They have 
worked with young people who have been arrested by the police and can demonstrate 
that most of the young people concerned have not gone on to reoffend.  

 WCC Early Help service has also worked in partnership with Save the Children on FAST 
(Families and Schools Together) which is an evidence based programme to build 
stronger bonds between parents, schools and communities. This has been delivered in 
23 Westminster schools and evaluations have shown improvements of family and 
parent-child relationships, as well as reductions in difficulties experienced by children in 
school. 

 Following learning from case reviews, a Children in Need chair has been introduced with 
the aim that cases held in early help services, where there are emerging concerns, are 
reviewed independently to ensure that they are managed in the right service. 

 Children missing education referrals have been received from a wide range of agencies 
including different council departments, health professionals and members of the 
public. The majority of these referrals are satisfactorily resolved by the ACE team with 

Page 34



 

7 
 

cases only concluded as ‘untraceable’ following extensive reasonable enquiries 
undertaken. 

 Over the course of 2014/15, 765 evaluation forms were received from parents who had 
received preventative input and advice through the local pilot of the NSPCC’s Coping 
with Crying programme. 

 The management of cases of young adult offenders and their potential association with 
children under 18 has been improved by increased co-working by CRC with the youth 
offending services in the three boroughs and frequent information sharing between the 
agencies. 

 While the numbers of families in placed in Bed and Breakfast accommodation fluctuated 
over the year, there were no families living in such accommodation for longer than six 
weeks. There are examples of good practice from Housing in all three boroughs in 
helping families early. For instance in Hammersmith and Fulham, households which have 
medical or social vulnerabilities, as well as those where there are children in critical 
stages of their education, have been receiving tailored support.   

 Coordinated multi-agency support through the “Team Around the School” approach has 
been enhanced to better address any increased safeguarding issues such as emotional 
wellbeing of children. This approach was undertaken with a particular secondary school 
in Westminster which has resulted in an improved approach including the relationship 
with CAMHs. 

 A Mental Health Task and Finish Group was initiated by the three Health and Wellbeing 
Boards but informed by work of Westminster’s LSCB Partnership Group. Its action plan 
includes an expectation that services providing mental health care to adults should be 
contractually required to ask patients about parental responsibilities and to assess the 
potential impact of their mental health problems on their children. The numbers of 
parents and carers identified are submitted in quarterly safeguarding reports. In 
addition, Chelsea and Westminster Hospital has a Lead Midwife for mental health and 
she works with mothers to ensure they are supported and referred to appropriate 
services. 

 All three boroughs have methods and interventions for addressing radicalisation in 
schools that are innovative and built into the curriculum. There is a significant emphasis 
on safeguarding (see “Spotlight on safeguarding children from radicalisation” below). 

 The IGU has maintained a significant reduction in violent offences in Westminster. 
 The Section 111 reporting format has been revised in response to feedback from the 

voluntary sector. 
 
Next steps 
 

 Support and challenge all agencies to be able to describe more clearly and evaluate the 
important contribution that Early Help is making to ensure positive outcomes for 
children’s safeguarding.   

                                            
1 Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 place duties on a range of agencies which come into contact with children 
to ensure their functions, and any services that they contract out to others, are discharged having regard to 
the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. The LSCB has responsibility to ascertain 
compliance with this. 

Page 35



 

8 
 

 There is regular reporting from the Children's Services performance team on Early Help 
but the way this is monitored and challenged has been identified as an area for 
development by the  QA subgroup in the 2015/16 Business Plan. 

 LSCB to have oversight of and opportunity to challenge initial impact of Focus on 
Practice on indicators that are expected to lead to better outcomes. These include 
anticipated reductions in numbers of children entering care, subject to child protection 
plans or rereferrals. The programme is being independently evaluated by the Institute of 
Education and the findings will be reported to the LSCB. 

 Build upon improved joint working between Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC) 
and youth offending and other children’s services as work takes place with a new cohort 
of young people becoming 18. 

 Recommendations made about parental mental health by the Mental Health Task and 
Finish Group need to be effectively implemented along with any further actions 
recommended by a short life working group on parental health being led by both the 
Mental Health Trusts for the Board in 2015/16.   

 Continue to evaluate and report on projects in relation to faith and belief which aim to 
engage and improve outcomes for children, incorporating this into ongoing activity. 
 

Spotlight on safeguarding children from radicalisation 
 
The LSCB recognises that young people are best safeguarded from 'radicalisation’ through 
the creation of networks that engage young people with life-enhancing, respectful 
ideologies; challenging casual prejudice in families; creating communities where there is a 
shared language of non-militancy; and diverting young people from peer groups who share 
extremist world-views. These are all activities that need to be joined-up with other 
partnerships - especially with schools, youth, community and faith organisations, young 
offender and prison institutions, as well as through direct work with families.    
 
What we have done? 
 
 There have been significant developments regarding engagement of key agencies in the 

Prevent agenda. The Safeguarding Lead for education has been a longstanding member 

of the local Channel Panels (there are two panels, one for Hammersmith & Fulham and 

Kensington and Chelsea and another panel for Westminster). In the past year, 

membership of the LBHF/RBKC panel was expanded to include a Team Manager from 

Family Services to provide children’s social care perspective as well as representation 

from the Tri Borough Youth Offending Service.  

 The Prevent agenda has been included in the rolling training for designated teachers and 

governors. In addition, Prevent training has been provided for over 1700 staff in 140 

schools across the three boroughs with an ongoing programme planned for 2015/16.  

 Information about the Prevent agenda has been shared with the significant number of 

schools in the independent sector.  

 There has been effective multi-agency support for schools and colleges in managing the 

repercussions in local communities when cases involving individuals (usually young 

adults) have attracted significant publicity. 

Page 36



 

9 
 

 Building upon existing knowledge of and links with Supplementary Schools, the LSCB 

Community Development Worker and Prevent leads have been mapping Madrassas in 

all three boroughs with a view to improve communication and provide active support to 

raise the profile of the Prevent agenda along with wider safeguarding issues. 

 CLCH is fully compliant with prevent duties as outlined 2015 guidance. It has a Prevent 

policy in place and has continued to cover the issues involved as part of their mandatory 

training offer. It is covered through Safeguarding Adults Level 1 training (90% 

compliance) and 50% of all staff have so far received Prevent training. 

 
What difference has it made? 
 
 The overall impact of local developments has been that emerging concerns are being 

consulted on earlier, with referrals made to the Channel panel where required. This 

means interventions can take place prior to any crime being committed. 

 Although data in relation to this cannot be published, there are anecdotal indications 

that a greater proportion of Channel Panel referrals now come from schools or are 

regarding a child or young person. 

 The agenda of Channel panels has widened to include more intelligence from schools 

rather than a sole focus on information from the police about individuals who are a 

cause for concern. This has led to a broader understanding of links between individual 

young people and has enabled a more preventative approach on some cases. Schools 

now actively take part in Channel discussions about individuals who are linked to 

children who are on their roll. 

 Younger siblings and other extended family have been safeguarded and supported to 

continue to go to school and access other services following high profile cases involving 

other family members. 

 There have been specific examples of successful interventions to address concerns 

about behaviour and developing attitudes of individual children which suggested that 

they were becoming radicalised. This has included work with children who have special 

educational needs. 

 Independent schools have started to request specific advice and input about the Prevent 

agenda. 

 Prevent leads have become an established and significant point of consultation for 

schools.  

 
Next steps 
 

 Embed developments by engaging members of the Tri-borough Prevent Steering Group 

in relevant LSCB sub-groups. 

 Replicate practice in LBHF and RBKC to engage a Family Services Team Manager in 

WCC’s Channel Panel.  

Page 37



 

10 
 

 Continue to raise the profile of the Prevent agenda in schools and colleges through 

training, tailored input and awareness raising, with a particular focus on the 

independent sector. 

 Provide information and workshops for representatives from Madrassas and 

Supplementary Schools to improve communications signpost access to the existing multi 

agency LSCB Training programme.  

 Ongoing analysis of referrals to and outcomes from Channel to ensure it is effective, 

particularly in response to children at risk of radicalisation  

 Develop support for children where there is evidence that their parents have become 

radicalised  

 Continue to develop our awareness of links with the e-safety agenda to safeguard 

children from the risks of internet and social media as a means of radicalisation.  

 
1.2 Better Outcomes for Children Subject to Child Protection Plans and those 
Looked After 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Child protection plans are relevant to the risks and needs of the child and lead 
to effective support that improves their outcomes and life chances. 
 
What have we done? 
 
 The Quality Assurance function within local authority Children’s Services maintains an 

oversight of children with child protection plans. Numbers of children becoming subjects 

of a plan and numbers where their plan has ended are monitored through reports to the 

QA sub-group. Where the LSCB has noted changes in local trends, this has been 

highlighted and challenged at the LSCB. This happened in April 2014 in relation to LBHF 

when it was noted at the LSCB meeting that there had been an increase in children 

subject to plans. This prompted more analysis of data and cases to review whether 

different thresholds were being applied. There have also been frequent care and 

contrast exercises across the three boroughs to understand trends and take action to 

ensure thresholds are consistently applied.  

2014/15 Business Plan priorities: 
 All child protection plans are relevant to the risks and needs of the child and lead to 

effective support that improves their outcomes and life chances. 

 Learning from case reviews improves the quality of practice and service that children, 

young people and families receive. 

 Staff working across all agencies are better able to identify and support children who are 

at risk of neglect. 

Page 38



 

11 
 

 When actions have been taken to address increases in numbers of child protection 

plans, these have been discussed at partnership group meetings to develop a consensus 

on thresholds and the degree to which different agencies are aware of and agree with 

these. 

 
 The Signs of Safety model has been introduced into child protection case conferences in 

in all three boroughs with all social workers receiving two days of training to use the 

techniques in practice. The model aims to work collaboratively and in partnership with 

families and children to conduct risk assessments and produce action plans for 

increasing safety, and reducing risk by focusing on strengths, resources and networks 

that the family have. 

 
What difference has it made? 
 
 The increased number of child protection plans in LBHF during 2014/15 prompted an 

external audit in the form of a ‘Safeguarding Stocktake’ which examined cases and child 

protection practice, leading to a set of recommendations.  The numbers of children in 

LBHF with child protection plans have since declined. 

 The introduction of Signs of Safety/Strengthening Families approaches has led to an 

increasing focus on reducing risks to children rather than plans which are lists of tasks 

that must be completed. 

 The majority of children who have been subject of child protection plans do not require 

such plans in the future. 

 
Next steps 
 
 Continue to review and challenge how the Board can be most effectively informed about 

trends and outcomes in relation to children with child protection plans including through 

reports provided by Child Protection Conference chairs and data reviewed by the QA 

subgroup. 

 
Learning from case reviews improves the quality of practice and service that 
children, young people and families receive. 
 
One Serious Case Review was published in 2014/15 and a second completed SCR has not yet 
been published owing to ongoing legal proceedings but initial learning has been shared 
across agencies. Multi-agency themed audits in 2014/15 covered cases where there were 
issues of domestic abuse, neglect and child sexual exploitation. It is important that 
recommendations and outcomes of such audits are communicated and lead to better 
practice or outcomes for children. Individual agencies continue to be responsible for 
ensuring that recommendations from the audits are followed through. 
 
 
 

Page 39



 

12 
 

What have we done? 
 
 Learning Events have been held to disseminate key learning from the reviews, including 

when it has not been possible to publish final reports from SCRs. 

 A new ‘Quality Assurance Manager’ role has been developed, partly to improve 

engagement of other agencies with audits such as schools as well as maintaining an 

overview of audit outcomes. 

 A quarterly Learning Review has been published which summarises learning from case 

reviews at both the local level and further afield as well as providing details of additional 

information or resources to support practice. This has been cascaded to staff via Board 

members and is used at training events. 

 A practice note has been published regarding processes that should be followed when 

Children in Need move between authorities.  

 
What difference has it made? 
 
 Local protocols have been developed to improve multi-agency engagement in strategy 

discussions 

 Improvements have been made to Health case transfer protocols and linking of patient 

records  

 Action  has been taken place to ensure frontline staff have a good understanding of 

welfare rights and that local thresholds do not operate in relation to families in 

particular situations;  

 Findings from Serious Case Reviews led to a number of new tools to better understand 

neglect as described in “Raising the Profile of Neglect” below. 

 
Next steps 
 
 Review the impact of improved communications about learning from reviews, including 

sampling the awareness of relevant multi-agency practitioners. 

 Continue to ensure that clear action plans result from ongoing case reviews and that 

actions agreed are completed with the impact tracked over time.  

 
Raising the Profile of Neglect 
 
What have we done? 
 
 There has been a particular focus this year on learning from reports about neglect of 

younger children and teenagers.  Awareness of the consequences of neglect of children 

in the first two years of life had a higher profile following a multi-agency audit in 

December 2014. This led to the initiation of a Neglect short life working group which will 

report in 2015/16. Other developments included new tools to help front line staff to 

identify cases of neglect and evidence the referrals they make to statutory child 

Page 40



 

13 
 

protection services.  The tool includes a check list and template for evidence recording 

based on templates used in schools but to be rolled out more widely across agencies 

such as early years providers. Another tool is being trialed which assists in recording 

evidence of the child’s experience relating to neglect with the aim of avoiding drift 

where neglect is identified. 

 The MASH has revised its case rating system to ensure that signs of neglect are more 

readily recognised including where multiple referrals have been made on the same child. 

Such cases are then escalated to an early help social worker. 

 The Neglect Short Life Working Group (SLWG) also focused on situations where families 

miss important appointments for their children, drawing upon individual agency work, 

particularly that undertaken by Health. Following learning from a SCR carried out in 

Greenwich, there has been a focus on Health, schools, Housing and social care 

considering their respective responses to families moving in and out of the local area. 

 A Neglect strategy and action plan has been agreed by the LSCB Board. LSCB Neglect 

training has been reviewed and individual agencies asked to reconsider the content of 

internal training in light of local and national case reviews and the Ofsted Thematic 

report in 2014.  

 The Independent Chair has worked with the DCI for the Child Abuse Investigation Team 

(CAIT) to follow up concerns that resource constraints on the CAIT were having 

implications for joint investigations and police attendance at strategy meetings. The 

Board has also reviewed the Metropolitan Police Service policy on changes to the 

practice of police not carrying out "welfare checks", introduced in 2014 to ensure that 

police do not attend premises when they have no legal power to enter. 

 
What difference has it made? 
 
The impact of the significant number of developments outlined above will be evaluated 
during 2015/16 and beyond. 
 
 The Independent Chair was given an assurance by the DCI of the CAIT that despite 

resource constraints, the Metropolitan Police Service audited the performance of the 

CAIT and that it was well case-managed at a local level.  The Board has also been assured 

that children would not be left unprotected, and there is no evidence that this has 

happened locally. Locally the police have stated that whenever there are sufficient 

grounds to suspect a child is at risk, an officer will attend and take appropriate action. 

 
Next steps 
 

 Ongoing evaluation of recent developments to improve responses to neglect.  

 Continue to develop and publish learning materials. 

Page 41



 

14 
 

 Each agency to identify and agree a specific action to improve the identification of 

neglect with the LSCB to facilitating the coordination of action to ensure that it is 

directed to where it is most effective. 

 Further testing of the Threshold of Needs Guide to ensure it continues to provide 

appropriate indications of neglect (as well as other issues such as CSE, missing children 

and risk of radicalisation). It will also be updated in light of the publication of Working 

Together 2015. 

 Continue to review the degree to which social workers are accompanied by Police 

colleagues when carrying out ‘joint’ investigations and reporting in to the police. 

 
1.3 Practice areas to compare, contrast and improve together 

 
Since 2012, organisations working across the three boroughs have sought to take advantage 
of the opportunities afforded through a single LSCB covering three boroughs by using a 
compare and contrast process to identify and learn from the best practice. This approach 
has been applied to priority areas of the LSCB’s Business Plan in 2014/15. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Spotlight on child sexual exploitation 
 
What have we done? 
 

 There has been a significant level of activity overseen by the LSCB to address CSE which 

has gathered momentum over the course of the year. The shared CSE Strategy and 

action plan is overseen by the MASH, Missing and CSE sub-group and reported to the 

Board. An agreed risk assessment tool is in place which has been developed over time to 

make it more user-friendly to assess all children and young people who may be at risk. 

The MASH has developed systems to identify all resident children receiving services or 

subject to referrals who meet the criteria for being at risk of sexual exploitation as 

determined through Metropolitan Police CSE Operating Protocol. Each local authority 

has a nominated CSE coordinator who provides a point of contact, advice or consultation 

for any professional who is concerned that a child may be at risk of or experiencing CSE.  

 The Multi-Agency Sexual Exploitation (MASE) panel was set up in early 2014 and 

provides a strategic overview of the identification, support and protection of children 

and young people at risk of CSE. It meets monthly with good representation from 

2014/15 Business Plan priorities: 
 Improve practice in respect of children and young people at risk of child sexual 

exploitation (CSE) 

 Improve practice in respect of children who are subject to or at risk of female genital 

mutilation 

 Improve response to domestic violence and abuse 

 Develop a co-ordinated approach to e-safety. 

Page 42



 

15 
 

relevant agencies and all three boroughs. The MASE has also developed its overview of 

interconnections between victims, perpetrators, and potential locations of concern 

which may require a planned and coordinated response.  

 There have been ongoing developments in terms of use of information which is matched 

with other data to map perpetrators and locations of exploitation. Problem profiles have 

been developed and shared with the sub-group.  

 Regular reviews of trends in relation to CSE identified some concerns about the quality 

of data regarding children and young people at risk, particularly in relation to differences 

between the reported number of cases by the local authorities compared to the Police 

in WCC and perceived low numbers of Category 1 cases overall. This was audited by the 

MASH Detective Inspector. He found that Police data included children who were not 

residents of WCC but were victims of CSE within the borough boundaries and included 

young adults who were making historical allegations. Otherwise, Police and the local 

authority were recording information about the same children. It was also concluded 

that the local authority CSE Co-ordinators were appropriately screening and applying 

thresholds so cases were only classified as Category 1 when there was clear evidence 

that the case should be deemed a CSE concern. 

 The publication of the report of the Independent Inquiry into CSE in Rotherham (1997-

2013) has led to additional local scrutiny by Chief Executives and elected members in all 

three boroughs. This also contributed to a more multi-departmental approach across the 

councils. A particular initiative resulting from was the Metropolitan Police’s Operation 

Makesafe programme which will be implemented in 2015/16 with the involvement of 

departments responsible for Licensing, Environmental Health and Community Safety as 

well as local business communities. 

 The LSCB offers specialist CSE training. Signs and indicators of CSE as well as signposting 
to CSE leads, the MASE and details of learning from case reviews are now included in the 
core multi-agency safeguarding training programme. Train the trainer programmes have 
been provided for all Designated Teachers for Child Protection in maintained schools 
across the three boroughs, including CSE as a key area.  In CLCH the named Nurses for 
Child Protection attend the MASE and share any concerns and information relating to 
children at risk of CSE.  CLCH staff have received training on the signs and indicators of 
CSE and so are aware of this form of abuse. Where they have concerns they seek advice 
from the CLCH Safeguarding team to make the appropriate referral into children's 
services.  

 Multi-agency meetings take place in all three boroughs to plan interventions and 

responses for both victims and perpetrators. Probation, the Police, Community Safety 

and Anti-Social Behaviour Teams use innovative approaches to disrupt perpetrator 

activity and improve safety in emerging locations of concern.  Over the past year, a 

number of children have been moved out of the area for their own protection, either 

through an identified care placement or through work with the Housing Department.  

 
 

Page 43



 

16 
 

What difference has it made? 
 
 There has been significant review of how CSE is recorded to ensure that as well as cases 

which meet Metropolitan Police thresholds, children who are at risk of CSE are also 

monitored and tracked by the three local authorities with oversight from the MASE. This 

approach will be rolled out, monitored and developed in 2015/16, in particular ensuring 

that a consistent threshold is being applied where children are thought to be vulnerable. 

Cases where risks have been effectively addressed are also being tracked to gain a 

better overview of the “journey” of individual children and interventions which have 

made a difference.  

 A multi-agency LSCB audit of CSE cases showed a general improvement in the way that 

multidisciplinary work was carried out with young people at risk of CSE, compared with a 

previous audit in 2013. Effective communication between agencies in relation to plans 

and interventions was noted as well as good multidisciplinary working between police 

and local authority services to achieve short term safety for children.  

 A police audit of perceived differences between police and local authorities data 

identified good levels of multi-agency working on all cases reviewed. 

 There have been examples of schools receiving coordinated support with concerns 

about potential CSE from more than one borough, addressing the complexities of 

providing services for children attending school outside of their home borough. Schools 

have engaged in mapping of CSE and Serious Youth Violence and their interrelationships. 

This mapping has informed “Team Around” approaches coordinating multi-agency 

support for schools, in particular those providing alternative educational provision. 

There is now wider multi-agency information sharing about vulnerabilities and risks for 

individual young people before they are placed in such provision, including liaison with 

MASH and the Youth Offending Service. 

 A contract for Barnardos to provide specialist services in LBHF has been reviewed and 

now includes a greater focus on outcomes and a role in the training of foster carers. 

Barnardos worked directly with 10 young people throughout the year. There has also 

been a good impact from work undertaken by specialist sexual health workers who work 

intensively with young people and build key relationships in the borough. 

 Frameworks to support multi-agency information sharing and mapping have led to the 

identification of “locations of concern” or hotspots. One example was where mapping of 

victims and alleged perpetrators led to a park being identified as a location where CSE 

activity was taking place. This led to cross-departmental work to improve lighting, CCTV, 

cutting back hedges, and additional police patrols. Since then there have been no 

further referrals to MASE about CSE cases involving the park and as a result it is not 

currently considered a location of concern.  

 Partnership working between police, local authority and parents led to child abduction 

notices being served regarding two victims of CSE in one of the boroughs.  

 

Page 44



 

17 
 

Next steps 
  
 The shared risk assessment tools will continue to be revised to ensure they can be used 

to screen children at the earliest stage, linking them to the Integrated Children’s System 

to ensure relevant cases are flagged consistently.  

 Develop plans to better identify, monitor and support children and young people for 

who there are concerns about potential CSE but who don’t meet the threshold for 

Category 1 interventions. 

 Ensure plans by MASE to develop strategic responses continue to be effective, including 

oversight  of the success of disruption and intervention strategies; ongoing integration 

with serious youth violence panels;  communicating the themes of strategic intelligence 

with practitioners e.g. mapping of local “locations of concern”, information about 

emerging patterns of activity and links with work with gangs. 

 Ensure that Operation Makesafe is implemented and that the impact of the programme 

is evaluated. 

 Ensure protocols are further developed and refined to ensure detailed assessments of 

risk take place in relation to vulnerable young people placed in alternative educational 

provision. Also ensure that staff working directly with these young people receive 

training on current safeguarding issues including CSE. 

 Further develop links with Adults’ Services to ensure young people who are victims 

and/or perpetrators of CSE are supported through the transition into adulthood.   

 
Spotlight on Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) 
 
What have we done? 
 

 An LSCB standing group was established to improve practice regarding FGM and with an 

initial aim to improve information sharing between Maternity services and children’s 

social care. 

 There is now a designated Child Protection Adviser for FGM in each borough providing 

consultation to partner agencies and overseeing cases, tracking referral activity and 

outcomes. A dedicated post has also been introduced who has shared good practice 

identified locally at both the London LSCB Chairs’ meeting and the National Association 

of Chairs Group.  

 FGM has been incorporated within the MASH threshold framework, rated as AMBER 

status when a woman has been identified as affected by FGM and she has a female 

child. This rating means that inter-agency checks will be undertaken without the 

requirement for family consent.  There has also been work in partnership with the 

Metropolitan Police London wide strategy and assisting the London LSCB in updating risk 

assessment guidance for front line staff.  

 A pilot project at St. Mary’s Hospital took place in 2014 through a partnership between 

Children Services, Maternity Services and Midaye, a community organisation. Through 

Page 45



 

18 
 

this, women referred to the clinic are jointly assessed by Health and Social Services with 

parallel support from a community based Health Advocate. Once a family has been 

identified, MASH checks are undertaken and then the cases are reviewed at a multi-

disciplinary meeting where plans are made to offer support and assess the family 

circumstances in a holistic way. Where a woman has or is expecting a female child this 

will include a social work assessment. The emphasis of this project is on early 

identification and prevention so that time can be taken to work with families, to help 

them to understand the health and legal consequences of FGM, and to empower 

parents to keep their child safe in the face of social and familial pressure to conform to 

tradition.  Following the pilot, the DfE awarded an innovation grant to enable the roll out 

across the three boroughs by extending the pilot at the hospital.  

 A second pilot has started but focusing instead on children and young people who have 

suffered FGM. This builds upon on a partnership between Imperial College NHS Trust 

and Children’s Services, planned in conjunction with the Police. Children who have been 

victims of FGM will receive a joint examination by a Consultant Paediatrician and 

Consultant Gynaecologist, as well as immediate access to a child psychologist and 

specialist social worker. This will be available to all children and families across the three 

boroughs and will be piloted for six months. 

 The Safeguarding in Education Lead has carried out targeted work to increase awareness 

among school staff about the indicators of and responses to FGM and highlighting 

specialist support and advice. In Westminster, FGM is now routinely considered as part 

of the Team Around the School model.   

 
What difference has it made? 
 
 Over the last year, referral numbers have increased which is seen as an early indicator of 

improved practice. However, referrals in relation to FGM remain low, suggesting that 

under-reporting remains a concern for all three Boroughs as is the case elsewhere in 

London. 

 As raised awareness is a key element of better identification and response to families 

and children who may be at risk of FGM, the significant amount of training for relevant 

staff will increase impact. 

 
Next steps 
 

 Finalise the LSCB FGM strategy and embed it across agencies. 

 Confirm the draft information sharing protocol to clarify when information about an 

adult survivor of FGM should trigger information sharing between agencies in order to 

consider the safety of the child. This is informed by pilot work which is already 

demonstrating the ability of agencies to work together.  

Page 46



 

19 
 

 Refine best practice models in cases where a child protection investigation is initiated, 

such as how medical examinations, interviews and legal proceedings are most effectively 

conducted. 

 Monitor and review the extension of the FGM Clinic project into Queen Charlotte’s 

hospital and support a further extension to Chelsea and Westminster Hospital as well as 

additional resources such as a male worker and psychological support for survivors. 

 Continue to engage schools serving communities which are likely to have high levels of 

FGM prevalence in a trial approach which will involve a targeted multi-agency meeting 

to share information about cases where there is a worry or concern. 

 Review and develop the pilot working with children and young people who have 

suffered FGM 

 
Spotlight on Missing children 
 
What have we done? 

 
 The appointment of a Missing Children Officer located within the MASH in September 

2014 has supported ongoing improvements in practice in line with a Tri-borough Missing 

Protocol and new government guidance. The post was introduced following a review of 

the numbers of missing children within the QA subgroup which identified differences 

across the three boroughs which were found to have resulted from different recording 

expectations. The Officer had a role in identifying vulnerable ‘missing’ and ‘absent’ 

young people and coordinating responses which would reduce long-term risk. Local 

authority case management systems have been developed to enable online recording of 

missing of absent “episodes”. The Officer receives daily Missing notifications from the 

Police (Merlins) and notifications from practitioners and checks compliance with the 

protocol ensuring relevant follow up actions take place. Quarterly reports have 

heightened our understanding of each borough’s compliance with the protocol and 

provided more of an understanding of the profile of each borough’s children who go 

missing. 

 A Missing Review is held every three months for all stakeholders with developments and 

required being discussed at the MASH/CSE/Missing Board. Two practice audits have 

been conducted in the past year which highlighted strengths and gaps within practice 

which are then followed up by the Missing Children’s Officer.  

 Meetings with Police have occurred on a regular basis to raise the Police awareness of 

the importance of Children’s Services receiving all Missing Merlins.  

 Information provided to RBKC’s Care Planning group enables a regular review of the 

highest risk missing cases leading to management oversight and clear actions being 

identified. 

Page 47



 

20 
 

 Because of the known links between children going missing and risks of CSE, the Missing 

Officer attends the MASE Panel to ensure intelligence regarding missing children is also 

considered.  

 
What difference has it made? 

 
 There is now an increased the awareness of the number of children and young people 

who go missing within the three boroughs. There are higher levels of understanding 

amongst frontline staff of the significance of being ‘missing’/’absent’ as a risk factor and 

links with other risks such as CSE and gang involvements. 

 Meetings with the Police have increased the number of Merlins being received by 

Children’s Services and their timeliness. 

 There is improved recording of missing episodes on case management systems and 

Strategy Discussions are held according to statutory requirements. 

 Outcomes from Return Home Interviews are informing on-going reflection and analysis 

of casework. 

 
Next steps 
 

 Develop practice targeting children who go missing most frequently. 

 Continue to provide training in relation to the protocol and any updates as well as the 

risks associated with going missing including support and advice for professionals from 

all agencies who may conduct “return home interviews”.  

 Carry out further audits, including one on the experience of young people who 

previously went missing, to identify what they found helpful to inform future practice.  

 MASH/CSE/Missing Board to receive performance reports including the identification of 

patterns and themes for individual children as well as for individual boroughs, to inform 

future multi-agency responses and challenge.  

 
Domestic Violence and Abuse 

 
What have we done? 

 
 A short life working group for domestic violence was established in 2014 to gain a 

mutual agreement and understanding of the direction of travel for reducing the risks of 

harm to children from domestic abuse. The group endorsed work carried out by the 

Early Help Board to provide guidance to frontline social workers in recognising and 

responding to signs of domestic abuse and proposed that the LSCB should agree to the 

Tri-borough Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) Partnership taking forward and 

coordinating future work to reduce the impact of domestic abuse. This was agreed in 

April 2015 with the LSCB to receive regular updates on progress from the VAWG 

Partnership.  

Page 48



 

21 
 

 The VAWG strategy and action plan has been agreed for 2015/16 informed by the views 

of focus groups of children and young people, facilitated by the LSCB’s Community 

Development Worker. It incorporates a more coherent approach to commissioning and 

decommissioning voluntary sector services across the three boroughs to ensure a more 

consistent approach with victims and perpetrators. 

 Learning from a SCR in LBHF last year has contributed to new ways of working with 

families where domestic violence is a feature. In RBKC for example, the significance of 

domestic violence and abuse has been further emphasised in Practice Week findings and 

ensuring more meaningful work with men and fathers. 

 
What difference has it made? 
  
 There has been improved working with the three boroughs’ Community Safety 

Partnerships and a strengthening of the quality assurance and training links with VAWG 

group. 

 Findings from recent case reviews regarding “disguised compliance” and working with 

men have influenced the content of systemic training for the Focus on Practice 

programme, therefore informing future practice of all local authority children’s social 

care and early help staff.  

 In all three boroughs, clinicians are being used to help understand family dynamics and 

how to change patterns of behaviour. In LBHF, three specialist posts have been created 

and split case conferences now take place where the father and mother both want to 

attend and sharing information in the presence of the other would be a problem. 

 
Next steps 

 
 Review progress with the VAWG strategy ensuring improvements are made to services 

that work with perpetrators and with children impacted by domestic violence. 

 Ensure an improved system and directory of services is available by the end of 2015 

which is easier for professionals and survivors to access and navigate. 

 Use and develop VAWG data to enhance the work of the LSCB and vice versa. 

 Work with the VAWG to understand whether we have the right services in place in the 

three boroughs in the face of reducing resources. 

  
E-Safety 
 
What we have done? 
 

 A Short Life Working Group was established to identify best practice and co-ordinate 

multi-agency practice regarding e-safety, reporting to the LSCB in January 2015.  The 

group reviewed existing policies, practice and training to identify any gaps to promote a 

better understanding of the issue for all agencies including safe practice by 

Page 49



 

22 
 

professionals. This was informed by the views and suggestions of children and young 

people and aimed to increase clarity across the multi-agency network in responding to 

e-safety concerns at a strategic and individual child level. A multi-agency preventive 

strategy was developed involving training and other practice initiatives. 

 Strong links have been developed with 3BM (an employee mutual which provides 

information technology support to many schools across the three boroughs) who have 

been an important partner in helping to share information with schools about e-safety.  

E-safety information will also be included on the LSCB website which will be a helpful 

resource for schools. 

 “Team around the school” approaches have enabled coordinated support and advice 

(including mental health services) being made available to schools in response to 

emerging issues which are affecting young people on roll where the medium of social 

media can be a contributory factor, e.g. self-harm, eating disorders and gender identity. 

 
What difference has it made? 
 
 E-safety guidance and information has been circulated to all schools including 

independent schools) via schools’ circulars. Information has also been distributed to 

schools to circulate to children and families.  

 E-Safety has been incorporated into training for Designated Leads for safeguarding in 

schools, including designated governors, and further specialist training has been 

commissioned for Designated Leads and specialist staff to commence in September 

2015.  

 An e-safety audit tool has been developed and reviewed by the LSCB and circulated to 

all schools as well as policy templates to be incorporated in school safeguarding and 

child protection policies. 

 
Next steps 

 
 Monitor take up of e-safety training as well as identification of e-safety “champions” 

in schools. 

 Share learning from safeguarding audits carried out from schools where good 

practice in relation to e-safety is identified. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 50



 

23 
 

1.4 Continuous improvement in a changing landscape 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Work with Health and Wellbeing Boards, and other partnerships, to promote 
safeguarding as everyone’s business 
 
What have we done? 
 

 We have sought to develop stronger links with the Adult Safeguarding Board and held a 

joint event in November 2014 to establish areas of common interest.  Forty four 

members attended and took part in two exercises concerning shared themes such as 

domestic violence and young people going through transition.  It was agreed that the 

respective Independent Chairs would attend each other’s Board annually with plans for 

further joint events. The Chairs continue to meet regularly and to strengthen the 

linkages with other bodies together, such as the Violence Against Women and Girls 

Strategic Partnership. 

 The LSCB has provided safeguarding input and expertise into a Health and Wellbeing 

Board (HWB) Task and Finish Group on child and adolescent mental health and has now 

established terms of reference for a short life working group focusing on parental 

mental health.  Links with the Health and Wellbeing Boards (HWBs) have been 

strengthened through the LSCB Chair meeting the HWB Chairs and the annual report 

being presented to HWB meetings.  Each borough-based HWB has priorities for children 

with links to safeguarding and several LSCB members are also members of the HWBs. 

 
 

2014/15 Business Plan priorities: 

 Work with Health and Wellbeing Boards, and other partnerships, to promote 

safeguarding as everyone’s business 

 Improve the engagement and representation of children, young people and 

families in the work of the Board 

 Improve the feedback to families in relation to child death overview panel 

findings 

 Strengthen the role of the borough Partnership Groups in championing local 

safeguarding practice and improvement 

 Ensure that the LSCB’s governance arrangements are fit for purpose and 

deliver improved local safeguarding practice 

 The LSCB has adequate Business Support to facilitate effective working of the 

Board 

 The LSCB’s training and development programme evaluates its effectiveness 

and impact on improving front-line practice and the experiences of children, 

young people and families 

Page 51



 

24 
 

What difference has it made? 
 
 LSCB members have attended training on the implementation of the Care Act and the 

Adult Safeguarding Board was invited to have representation on the LSCB’s short life 

working group on parental mental health.   

 The agenda at individual Health and Wellbeing Boards has been informed by input from 

an LSCB perspective. The RBKC HWB requested follow up reports on FGM, CSE and 

Neglect following presentation of the LSCB Annual Report and actions were agreed, for 

example to review information sharing and communication in relation to FGM by health 

agencies. 

 
Next steps 
 
 Where appropriate, the LSCB will now work more closely with the Adult Safeguarding 

Board on Serious Case Reviews, sharing learning and training events. 

 
Engagement and representation of children, young people and families in the 
work of the Board 
 
What have we done? 
 

 A safeguarding survey of 134 children and young people across the three boroughs 

sought views on what they thought safeguarding was and the ways in which 

professionals, agencies and services should communicate with them. 51% of young 

people said they had not been asked their views on safeguarding before while 24% could 

not remember or did not know if their views had been sought. Three key areas were 

then identified to focus on more widely: 

 
1. Are young people being asked about safeguarding? 
2. Is there a feedback loop? 
3. Which professionals are young people talking to? 

 
 There have been five meetings with young people between October 2014 and February 

2015 one of which was attended by the Independent Chair and other Board members.  

At least six young people have attended each session.  So far the young people have 

learnt what the LSCB is, what its priorities are and the types of professionals who sit on 

the board.  

 The LSCB Communication Map has been developed which charts the way information 

can be shared to and from the Board, regarding participation and engagement. 

Professionals have nominated themselves to be the named person for their respective 

sector. This means any safeguarding issues, comments or suggestions that young people 

may want to communicate with the Board on can be collated by those individuals, fed 

Page 52



 

25 
 

back to the community development worker and then shared with the Board and vice 

versa. 

 In December 2014, a group of six young people identified 16 safeguarding priorities that 

they would like to focus on for 2015/2016. Over the last few months other young people 

across the three boroughs have been invited to select their top two from this list, with a 

description of what needed to change and how the LSCB can seek to bring about those 

changes.  The recommendation following this piece of work is that the children and 

young people’s chosen top three priorities be incorporated either into the work of the 

Board or the work of the Community Development Officer for the financial year 

2015/2016. The three areas are: 

 

1. Bullying (including online and in school)  
2. Self harm 
3. Employment, training and education 

 
 The community development worker created a model for a young person’s version of 

the VAWG strategy and is now working with the VAWG partnership to collect feedback 

from children and young people.  

 The community development worker has also developed a working-group with Somalian 

men from the White City area of Hammersmith & Fulham, who are viewed as 

“community leaders” in an isolated community. The group was set up in response to a 

perception from the community that Somalian children were over-represented in the 

cohort of children with child protection plans and a feeling that they were being 

responded to unfairly. There have been three safeguarding workshops since December 

2014  with six members of the group attending a “Safeguarding Awareness Raising 

Session”  provided for supplementary school teachers including those working from 

Mosques and Madrassas. While the group is predominantly male, a Safeguarding 

Awareness Raising Session has also been provided for Somalian mothers in the White 

City Estate. 

 Workshops on Safeguarding have also taken place with members of the Arabic speaking 

community in RBKC. In addition 18 community groups took part in a workshop on the 

key Safeguarding requirements for community and youth groups with “Safe Network”.  

 
What difference has it made? 
 
 A cohort of young people is becoming both more informed about the work of the LSCB 

and more involved in it. 

 Young people contributed to the safeguarding messages communicated locally during 

Safer Internet Day (February 2015).  

 Members of local communities have engaged with the LSCB including groups who have 

concerns about safeguarding practice 

 

Page 53



 

26 
 

Next steps 
 
 Build on opportunities to communicate with wider groups of children and young people, 

e.g. through facilitating workshops at young people’s conferences and other events. 

 Review the effectiveness of individual schools’ plans to raise awareness of safeguarding 

topics amongst their pupils and share good practice with other schools across the three 

boroughs. 

 Continue to develop more effective ways of ensuring that the views of children and 

young people influence and inform the priority work of the LSCB. 

 
LSCB website development 
 
What have we done? 

 Progress has been made in developing a standalone LSCB website to replace the three 

single borough LSCB sites. This will support a stronger identity for the shared LSCB which 

effectively communicates the local ‘safeguarding story’. The new LSCB website has been 

launched in summer 2015 with sections for professionals, children and young people 

and parents and carers.  It includes signposting to relevant resources, information on 

training, policies and procedures and where to get help and advice relating to 

safeguarding. 

 In other areas of communication, the LSCB has improved.  The previously mentioned 

‘Learning Review’ is complemented in Children’s Services Departments by bulletins 

summarising recent LSCB work and by regular communications from Directors of Family 

Services and the Director of Children’s Services.  There is also a monthly Policy Digest 

which includes a section on safeguarding. 

What difference has it made? 
 
 More staff are aware of the LSCB and there are plans to improve the number of 

channels through which the Board communicates with them and the wider community 

in the forthcoming year. 

 
Next steps 
 
 Launch and continue to develop the LSCB. 

 Review and improve the LSCB’s communications to reach a wider audience more 

effectively. 

 
 
 
 

Page 54



 

27 
 

Strengthening the role of borough Partnership Groups in championing 
safeguarding 

 
What have we done? 
 
 There continue to be positive relationships in all three boroughs across a wide range of 

partnerships and openness to hearing from others both in meetings and outside. The 

LSCB has ensured that partners can continue to focus on specific local issues through the 

borough-based partnership groups whilst retaining oversight.   

 All three Partnership Groups now have lay members and good representation from 

across the agencies. Any weaknesses in representation are being followed up. 

 Each Group has developed a local agenda, however it has been acknowledged that they 

have not consistently taken forward the wider LCSB Safeguarding Plan. 

 
What difference has it made? 
 
 The 2015/16 LSCB Safeguarding Plan will inform the annual plans of the Partnership 

Groups which will include local issues but with stronger linkage to wider, shared 

priorities. The Chair has strengthened the groups’ work by being more rigorous in 

specifying the outcomes that are to be achieved. 

 
Next steps 

 Ensure that ongoing review of the LSCB Safeguarding Plan includes oversight of the 

degree to which the activity of the three Partnership Groups is supporting and informing 

the overall aims of the LSCB. 

 
Review of governance arrangements 
 
What have we done? 

 Governance arrangements have been reviewed to ensure the LSCB is fit for purpose to 

deliver improved local safeguarding.  We aim to ensure that agendas reflect issues 

raised by all agencies. There has been particularly strong engagement of Health with the 

LSCB agenda. The lay members continue to bring active independent thinking to the 

Board as well as input to subgroups. 

 Business planning processes have been reviewed in order to streamline Board priorities 

and specify outcome measures while ensuring that ongoing work is completed.  

 A more robust culture of challenge has been developed with one element of this being 

the establishment of a ‘Challenge Log’.  Challenges are raised in a number of ways with 

major ones submitted to the Chair who may then table them at the following LSCB 

meeting for discussion. The log records details of the challenge, the date, the agencies 

involved and the outcome for a child or group of children or wider practice.  Challenges 

are submitted by all agencies and concern a wide range of topics such as FGM, teenage 

Page 55



 

28 
 

mental health, information sharing between agencies and the impact of housing benefit 

caps.  Other opportunities for agencies to challenge partners include through the multi-

agency case audits, conducted by the Quality and Assurance Subgroup. These are 

brought to the Board for scrutiny, and development sessions about the learning from 

case and serious case reviews. 

 In May 2014 a peer review was commissioned to assist with assessing the effectiveness 

of the LSCB.  It was led by the Independent Chair of another local authority area with 

experience in improving LSCBs’ functions and led to a number of recommendations 

where improvements could be made. 

What difference has it made? 
 
 Partners have raised issues for detailed consideration of the LSCB such as the Violence 

Against Women and Girls Strategy, new Police policies on welfare checks, neglect during 

the first two years of life and how effectively the health needs of Looked After Children 

are met, especially those placed out of borough. 

 A more streamlined annual Safeguarding Plan was agreed at the start of 2015/16 which 

specified outcome measures. 

 Challenge identified the need for a more strategic response regarding FGM to ensure 

that agencies were joined up.  As a result, of this, a short life working group was 

established and this has led to outcomes specified earlier in this report. 

 The peer review exercise led to recommendations which have been acted upon 

including the improvement of communications, development of smarter LSCB targets 

and a review of the support allocated to the LSCB.   

 
Next steps 
 
 Take steps to widen the range of LSCB partners who lead sub-groups or short life work 

groups. 

 Develop the profile of the Board and its activities through key messages communicated 

to all staff via newsletters and the website. 

 Improve the logging of escalations to tie in with the “challenge log”, to ensure that LSCB 

has oversight and can make links to future learning and improvement. 

 
Ensuring adequate Business Support to facilitate effective working of the 
Board 

 
The business support provided for the Board was reviewed in 2014/15 and a revised support 
structure has been agreed to be implemented. This includes a full time Business 
Development Manager who will take a project management approach to the day to day 
running of the Board as well as developing its activities and evaluating progress in the longer 
term. The Board will also be supported by a Development Worker who will support the 

Page 56



 

29 
 

management of the LSCB and its sub-groups, as well as developing and coordinating 
strategic plans and initiatives, service improvement and overall administration of the Board. 
 
Ensuring the LSCB’s training and development programme evaluates its 
effectiveness and impact on improving front-line practice and the experiences 
of children, young people and families 

 
The LSCB benefits from a well-trained workforce in the three boroughs with a focus on 
practice and resources for early help as well as child protection. Safeguarding is regarded as 
‘everyone’s business’. LSCB training is well regarded across the workforce and is attended by 
a wide range of agencies. Police attendance is low but they do attend their own 
safeguarding training. The LSCB trainer has excellent links with Commissioning, Education 
and Early Years colleagues and therefore has frequent access to conferences or briefing 
events in order to promote training courses where take up is low.   
 
The Learning and Improvement Framework (LIF) aims to ensure that that the LSCB fulfils its 
statutory obligations; that the multi-agency workforce is suitably skilled and provided with 
suitable support to learn and improve; that services improve through developing the 
workforce; that expectations  of member organisations and the LSCB are clear; that single 
and inter-agency training and learning is of adequate quantity and quality; that a standard is 
set for professional knowledge, skills and values (via the LSCB Training Strategy). 
 
A summary of the training commissioned by the LSCB in 2014/15 is in Appendix C.  
 
What we have done? 
 
 The Learning and Development (L&D) Group has overseen the LSCB multi-agency 

training programme which has been publicised through a newsletter to staff across the 

children’s workforce. This year’s offer has included Core Training as well as a wide range 

of specialist courses addressing specific safeguarding issues and training for managers 

and supervisors. Partner agencies share the delivery of the LSCB training offer although 

the main contributors continue to be Health and Children Services who delivered 19.8 % 

and 54.2% of the training respectively. Training courses are also delivered in schools by 

the Safeguarding in Schools lead which are tailored to schools’ specific needs.  

 The training offer is informed by learning from case reviews, audits and short life 

working groups as well as focus groups to review the training offer. Training content has 

also been revised to reflect national developments, for example Neglect training 

incorporated lessons from the 2014 Ofsted thematic report. Meanwhile changes were 

made to training provided by health providers to incorporate FGM and CSE. Corporate 

‘Prevent’ training has been promoted across LSCB members and this will continue into 

2015/16. 

 LSCB-commissioned training has been subject to quality assurance including 

observations of trainer delivery and course content and mystery shopping exercises. 

Page 57



 

30 
 

 Another action this year was for the LSCB’s training and development function to better 

evaluate its effectiveness and impact on improving front-line practice and the 

experiences of children, young people and families.  A revised process commenced in 

September 2014, focusing on pre and post course evaluation. It included self-

assessment of knowledge and competency with a longer term plan to undertake a 

longitudinal evaluation from delegates three months and six months afterwards to 

assess the impact of training on practice. 

 
What difference has it made? 
 
 Training provided has reached significant numbers of staff. There have been 13 

‘Introduction to Safeguarding’ workshops training 242 delegates; 34 ‘Multi-agency 

Safeguarding and Child Protection’ workshops training 673 delegates. Specialist and 

managerial workshops have delivered training to a further 670 delegates: 

 
 Voluntary sector organisation delegates made up 31% of attendance at 

‘Introduction to Safeguarding’ workshops. 

 Attendance rates for core training remain high at 96.2%  

 Delegate feedback was positive regarding course content and impact on the 
delegates’ knowledge, skills and practice. 

 
 Feedback from staff in 2014/15 has led to changes to the 2015/16 training programme 

including the offer of half-day refresher safeguarding training (Level 3) for delegates who 

have already attended a whole day workshop in the past. Courses are also being offered 

at different times to increase accessibility as well as more access to e-learning and 

external links to Virtual College for FGM and CSE training. 

 
Next steps 
 

 Review and develop the Learning and Improvement Framework. 

 The L&D subgroup will collate and analyse information emerging from Section 11 audits 

to inform assessment of training effectiveness.  

 Revise the LSCB training programme to make it leaner and enable us to respond to new 

and emerging priorities. For example through working alongside the VAWG group to 

promote CSE training and Harmful Cultural Practices training from the innovation bid to 

the DfE. There will also be efforts to make links to Adult Services training and sign post 

where necessary. 

 Identify and respond to lessons from the new process of pre and post course evaluation 

in terms of what forms of training have the best impact upon professional practice and 

outcomes for children.  

 
 

Page 58



 

31 
 

CHAPTER 2 – THE LOCAL AREAS’ SAFEGUARDING CONTEXT 

 
Local Demographics 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2.1 Vulnerable Children and Young People 
 

This section reviews trends and progress with safeguarding children with high levels of 
vulnerability. This includes children who need to be supported by a child protection plan 
and those who need to be in the care of the local authority to keep them safe. It also looks 
at other cohorts of children and young who have been identified as a priority by the LSCB. 
 
 
 
 

 Between the 2001 and the 2011 Census the population of 
Hammersmith and Fulham and Westminster has risen. The 
population of Kensington and Chelsea has declined. The population 
is LBHF: 182,500 (+10%), RBKC: 158,600 (-0.2%), WCC: 219,400 
(+21%). 

 Kensington and Chelsea is the country’s second most densely 
populated area. 

 Hammersmith & Fulham is sixth and Westminster is seventh.  
 The population turnover (churn) is high in all three boroughs: 

Westminster is the highest in London, Hammersmith and Fulham is 
the fourth and Kensington and Chelsea is the sixth. 

 In Hammersmith & Fulham 20% of the population are aged 0 to 19 
years, 19% in Kensington and Chelsea and Westminster.  

 There are an estimated 86,600 children under 16 living in the three 
boroughs with recent increases in this population in LBHF (+9%) 
and WCC (+33%) and a decrease in RBKC (-2%). 

 23% of all households in LBHF contain dependent children; 19.5% in 
RBKC and 19% in WCC. 

 15,000 (46%) children in LBHF are from Black and Minority Ethnic 
(BAME) group; 10,300 (38%) in RBKC and 20,500 (57%) in WCC. 

 WCC has seen a 73% increase in the non-Christian under 16s 
population; 41% in LBHF and 2% in RBKC. 

 17% of LBHF children have other (non-British) national identities; 
28% in RBKC and 23% in WCC. 

 Foreign-born children made up 14% of all children in LBHF; 21% in 
RBKC and 19% in WCC. 

 All three boroughs have a higher percentage of lone parents not in 
employment than national (40.5%) and London (47.8%) rates with 
Westminster ranked second highest nationally. 

Page 59



 

32 
 

2.2 Children with a child protection plan 

 
Following a child protection case conference which concludes that a child or young person is 
at risk of abuse, he or she becomes a 'child subject of a child protection plan'. The plan 
identifies tasks for different agencies to ensure that such children are safe. 
 
At the end of 2014/15, there were 343 children who were subject to child protection plans 
across the three boroughs.  This included 169 children in Hammersmith and Fulham, 61 in 
Kensington and Chelsea and 113 in Westminster.  Compared with previous years, this is an 
increase in numbers, except for Kensington and Chelsea which saw a reduction. Compared 
with most recently available national and London rates (children with child protection plans 
per 10,000 population, 2012/13), rates were higher in LBHF and lower in RBKC and WCC. 
Significant work has taken place in LBHF to understand these trends and review practice 
where required. 
 
2.3 Children in Care 

 
Children in care are “looked after” by one of the three local authorities. Children usually 
only enter care after significant work which seeks to protect children so they can remain at 
home with their families. Children can only become looked after either with a parent’s 
consent or following a court decision.   
 
At the end of 2014/15, 469 children were in care across the three boroughs, 185 were 
looked after by LBHF, 105 by RBKC and 179 by WCC. Numbers of children in care have 
reduced since 2012 across the three boroughs, although RBKC and WCC saw a slight 
increase between 2014 and 2015. Rates of children in care are lower in all three authorities 
compared to national measures (children looked after per 10,000 population 2012/13) and 
slightly higher than London rates in LBHF. 
 
The three local authorities have agreed a Strategic Plan for Looked After Children and Care 
Leavers which sets out the vision and intended outcomes for Looked After Children and Care 
Leavers in the three boroughs from 2014-17. Individual children in care have regular reviews 
which are chaired by Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs) to ensure their needs are met 
over time.  
 
Work with Looked after Children is scrutinised at a borough level by the relevant local 
authority committee but the LSCB also receives an annual report which gives assurances 
about different stages of the looked after arrangements. The LSCB has a particular interest 
in the interfaces with CSE, children missing from care, the stability of care leavers’ lives, the 
risks that may arise from children being placed away from the local authority area and the 
risk and impact of neglect.   
 
2.4 Children who are privately fostered 

 
Privately fostered children are those who live away from home following an arrangement 
with extended family or friends made by their parent or parents. The ongoing challenge is to 
raise awareness about these children and their needs so that the local authority is notified 

Page 60



 

33 
 

and able to assess situations where private fostering appears to be taking place. A Senior 
Practitioner was employed during 2014/15 to lead on this work with responsibility to 
coordinate awareness raising across agencies, and to assess and monitor the children 
concerned. Most children we are aware of are aged 10 or older. Most referrals tend to 
originate from the UK Border Agency, school admissions or self-referrals. There is a local 
trend involving young people, usually aged 14 or older living in the local area with host 
families to attend international schools and colleges. Additional activity to highlight the 
needs of these children has led to increased levels of referral in 2015/16. LSCB will review t 
during the forthcoming year.  
 
2.5 Disabled Children 

 
During 2014/15, of the Children in Need who received a service from children’s social care, 
6% in LBHF, 5% in RBKC and 11% in WCC were children with disabilities. The proportions of 
children with these needs have remained broadly constant over the past three years 
although in WCC the percentage has increased from 5% in 2012/13 to 11% in 2014/5. At the 
end of the year it was noted that of the children receiving services from Children with 
Disability social care teams, 3% had child protection plans, 5% were looked after children 
and the rest were Children in Need. During the review of the LSCB’s work in 2014/15 it was 
agreed that a greater focus on the safeguarding of disabled children and young people was 
needed and has been identified as a key priority in the 2015/16 Safeguarding Plan. 
 
2.6 Young people at risk of offending 
 
The number of young people across all three boroughs starting to receive interventions 
from the Youth Offending Service reduced to 444 in 2014/15 from 469 in the previous year. 
However, numbers starting to receive a service in WCC increased by 10.  Those who were 
subject to remands also reduced from 46 young people to 39 although numbers remained 
the same in LBHF (18 young people). The number and rates of young people receiving 
custodial sentences increased in LBHF and WCC although numbers decreased from 13 to 4 
young people in RBKC. National rates of young people receiving custodial sentences 
decreased between 2013/14 and 2014/15.  
 
2.7 Young people with mental health issues 

 

Use of mental health services by children and young people is recorded for each of the three 
CCGs covering the three boroughs. 2,451 referrals were made to Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Services (CAMHS). Although the highest number of referrals was recorded for 
West London CCG, the highest rate of referrals was seen in Hammersmith & Fulham CCG.  
For all three CCGs, 104 children were admitted to hospital with a primary diagnosis of 
mental or behavioural disorder in 2014/15 with the admission rate per 10,000 children 
being the highest in Hammersmith & Fulham CCG (13.4 admissions per 10,000 children).  
While there has not been a specific focus on the safeguarding needs of children with these 
needs in 2014/15, there has been significant activity carried out through the Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and the Children’s Trust Board. The Safeguarding Plan for 2015/16 
prioritises ensuring that safeguarding practice meets the needs of children with mental 
health concerns. 

Page 61



 

34 
 

CHAPTER 3 – GOVERNANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

 
3.1 What is the LSCB? 

 
The Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) is a statutory body which agrees how relevant 
agencies work together to help make children and young people safer through promoting 
the welfare of children and making sure that work taking place is effective. The work of the 
LSCB during 2014/15 was governed by statutory guidance in Working Together 2014 
(Section 13) and from March 2015 Working Together 2015 (Chapters 3-5). 
 
Since April 2012 a single LSCB has been in place to represent the three local authorities of 
Hammersmith and Fulham (LBHF), Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea (RBKC) and the 
City of Westminster (WCC).  A LSCB across three boroughs works well for many partners, 
particularly as it reduces the duplication of senior managers having to attend three different 
LSCBs and enables greater engagement. This is particularly the case for some Health leads 
and the CAIT representative who have regional responsibilities which cover multiple 
boroughs. There has also been a positive impact on attendance and strength of input. There 
are complications for some locally-run services such as Police, Housing and Schools at Board 
level, as representative Board members do not work in arrangements that cross the three 
boroughs.  The communication burden for such partners is challenging but this is partly 
addressed through the work of the borough-based Partnership Groups. 
 
There is a significant advantage in having best practice, learning and resources from the 
three boroughs shared, compared and contrasted across agencies. Three geographically 
small boroughs would be challenged in having the resources to run three boards with the 
attendant costs of having specialist posts to take forward some of the work of the Board. 
For example, it is probable that three single LSCBs would not have the funding to support 
the part-time development workers for faith and voluntary sector, and children and young 
people’s participation. An LSCB for three boroughs has also enabled shared structures and 
processes to develop, for example in relation to missing children and child sexual 
exploitation. This is of benefit for agencies operating in a part of London where children 
often go to school or receive services in neighbouring boroughs which can otherwise lead to 
confusion over pathways to services and their thresholds. 
 
The shared Board is numerically large and the Independent Chair therefore needs to be 
active and visible across a number of key service areas. Governance arrangements need to 
ensure that the Chief Executives of each local authority are accountable for the 
arrangements being made. These arrangements are in place with a protocol agreed with the 
Chief Executives in 2013.  The Scrutiny Committees in each borough receive and consider 
this Annual Report (as do the three Health and Well-being Boards). The time required to 
meet these demands is significant but through this the Board benefits from significant 
review of and feedback about its work.    
 
 
 
 
 

Page 62



 

35 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.2 LSCB Structure 

 
The structure of the Board and it’s subgroups in 2014/15 was as follows: 

 
3.3 Key roles 

 
Independent Chair  
 
The LSCB has been led by Jean Daintith, Independent Chair for three years since its 
inception in 2012. The Independent Chair is directly accountable to and meets regularly with 
the Chief Executives of Hammersmith & Fulham, the Royal Borough of Kensington and 
Chelsea and Westminster City Council. She also works closely with the Executive Director of 
Children’s Services.  
  
Local Authorities 
 
All three local authorities are required to establish a Local Safeguarding Children Board 
under Section 13 of the Children Act 2004. The leaders of the three councils are responsible 
for the effectiveness of their respective LSCB arrangements with the Chief Executives 
accountable to their Leaders.  
 
There is a Lead Member for Children’s Services in the Cabinet of all three councils. The Lead 
Members are responsible for ensuring that their respective councils meet their legal 

LSCB 

Partnership 
Boards x 3 

MASH, Missing 
and Child Sexual 

Exploitation 
Group 

Learning and 
Development 

Sub Group 

Quality 
Assurance 
(QA) Sub 

Group 

Child Death 
Overview 
(CDOP) 

Case Review 
Panel 

Short Life 
Working 
Groups 

Independent 
Chair 

Chair's 
Group 

VISION OF THE LSCB 
 

The LSCB for the three boroughs aims to be ‘excellent’ in its role in ensuring agencies work 
effectively together to help make children and young people safer and promoting their 
welfare. We will make a proportionate response to national issues. A focus on what works 
best for children means we will support early help and promote family-based care wherever 
possible.  We will work with partners to encourage and challenge a range of organisations to 
raise their profile to ensure that safeguarding is everyone’s business.  We will continue to 
have short-life focus groups to learn and improve and to disseminate learning and knowledge.  
All of our work will be informed by the voice of the child and the experience of our looked 
after children. We will manage within our resources but continue to raise any additional 
requirements where resource limitations impact on our ambition to fulfill our function well.  
 

Page 63



 

36 
 

responsibilities in relation to safeguarding children. All three Lead Members are members of 
the LSCB with the status of “observers” as defined through Working Together 2015. They 
also receive regular briefings in relation to safeguarding developments and concerns from 
the Executive Director of Children’s Services and the relevant borough based Family Services 
Director. 
 
Partner Agencies 
 
Section 13 of the Children Act 2004 sets out which partners must be represented on the 
LSCB. The representatives of these partners are at a level in their organisation at which they 
are able to commit to agreed developments in local policy or practice as determined by the 
LSCB as well as being able to hold their agency to account. There are examples of where the 
Independent Chair has challenged the level of representation provided by particular 
agencies which have led to improvements. 
 
Designated Professionals 
 
There are two Designated Doctors, one for Central London Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) (Westminster) and a second for Hammersmith & Fulham CCG and West London CCG 
(Kensington and Chelsea). There are also two Designated Nurses covering the same three 
CCGs. The Designated Professionals’ role is to work across the local health system to 
support other professionals in their agencies on all aspects of safeguarding and child 
protection. They provide advice and support to health commissioners in CCGs, the local 
authority and NHS England, other health professionals in provider organisations, quality 
surveillance groups, regulators, the LSCB/SAB and the Health and Wellbeing Board. They 
also quality assure the Governance and Accountability arrangements of Provider agencies 
through their Section 11 audits. 
 
3.4 Organisation of the LSCB  
 
The Board is chaired by an Independent Chair and meets four times a year. In addition to 
the quarterly meetings, the Board has two half-day development sessions or extra-ordinary 
meetings and holds special events to provide opportunities for active learning from the 
findings of case reviews. Much of the business of the Board is taken forward by its 
subgroups which meet between Board meetings. Each borough also retains a partnership 
group which has an important role in channeling issues up to, and disseminating messages 
from, the main Board. Partnership groups also ensure an ongoing focus on specific local 
issues with oversight from the Board. 
 
A list of LSCB members as at May 2015 can be found in Appendix A. There has been a focus 
on increasing the participation of key partners and their attendance at the main Board is 
recorded in Appendix B. An increased representation at the LSCB from schools has been 
noted although it has been a challenge to have all three school representatives at the Board 
at the same time.  The link with education has been strengthened by the School 
Improvement Service regularly participating in the QA sub-group. The three Borough Police 
services are represented at the Board by one Chief Superintendent who is then responsible 

Page 64



 

37 
 

for communicating key messages to colleagues in the other two boroughs which can be a 
challenge. 
 
Communication with local schools about safeguarding outside of LSCB meetings has 
improved significantly. The LSCB’s Safeguarding in Education officer has established active 
links with schools’ safeguarding leads. The officer along with the Local Authority Designated 
Officer (LADO) have also made progress with engaging the significant number of private and 
international schools in the three boroughs. An Independent Schools forum has been 
established with a focus on Safeguarding and Child Protection. This is well attended and 
feedback from schools is positive with an increase in requests for advice or support being 
noted. The Director of Education and the Safeguarding in Education Officer have regular 
mechanisms for communication with schools about relevant matters, including private and 
independent schools and the Independent Chair of the LSCB has attended the Head 
Teachers Executive meeting to discuss safeguarding. 
 
The Independent Chair has intervened where there have been concerns about 
communication between related agencies, levels of representation at the Board or the 
impact of changes in resourcing. This has included challenge of the Child Abuse Investigation 
Team (CAIT) regarding regional levels of resourcing for investigations and strategy meetings 
and raising this issue with London Councils. There are examples of where other partners 
have responded to challenge about their level of representation which have led to new 
arrangements which have improved the contributions made to discussions and debates as 
well as the quality of joint working between meetings.  
 
3.5 Key relationships 

 
Health and Wellbeing Boards 
 
There is a Health and Wellbeing Board in each of the three boroughs. The Boards are 
chaired by the Lead Member for Adults Services and members include representatives from 
local authority services (including the Executive Director of Children’s Services), the Lead 
Members for Children’s Services, the NHS and the voluntary sector. A protocol for working 
arrangements has been agreed between the LSCB and each of the three Health and 
Wellbeing Boards which has enabled the Independent Chair to present the LSCB Annual 
Report to each Board as well as the identification of shared priorities in relation to 
safeguarding children. 
 
Children’s Trust Board 
 
A single Children’s Trust Board was established for all three boroughs in 2014/15. It is 
chaired by the Executive Director of Children’s Services who is also a member of the LSCB. In 
its first year, the Children’s Trust Board has focused on developing multi-agency approaches 
to key commissioning developments including child and adolescent mental health and 
sexual health. The Independent Chair has presented the LSCB’s priorities to the Children’s 
Trust Board which informed the CTB’s initial workplan. 
 
 

Page 65



 

38 
 

Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) 
 
There are three CCGs covering the LSCB’s area but the CCG collaborative group represents 
these at the LSCB with the Director and Assistant Director of the collaborative being 
members of the Board. 
 
In addition, all relevant health organisations attend a Health Sub-group which is chaired one 
of the Designated Nurses. This was set up at the end of the 2014/15 and will be absorbed 
into the overall governance structure in 2015/16. 
 
In 2014/15, Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) work was led by the Clinical Commissioning 
Groups on behalf of the LSCB. The CDOP has continued to report to the LSCB and strengthen 
the links with the other subgroups to ensure that safeguarding issues are fully addressed 
and learning achieved to prevent future deaths. 
 
3.6 Quality Assurance 
 
The Quality Assurance (QA) subgroup takes a lead role in fulfilling the LSCB’s scrutiny 
functions. The Quality Assurance Framework, launched in 2013, provides the LSCB with an 
opportunity to scrutinise key information from agencies across the partnership, 
incorporating quantitative data, information about the quality of services, and information 
about outcomes for children, asking: How much? How good? and What difference? 
Exceptions are escalated through relevant reporting mechanisms for discussion and 
decision, with the results fed back down and action followed up by the QA subgroup or 
individual agencies. 
 
The data set examined by the subgroup has identified patterns, changes and early warning 
signs within interagency safeguarding work (see sections on Child Protection Plans and 
Missing Children for examples). Some agencies which collect information regionally or with 
alternative boundaries have had difficulties providing data specific to one or three boroughs 
and there are some logistical issues with collating a data set from such a wide range of 
sources to enable all emerging issues to be responded to in a timely way. However, 
management information has improved this year: better information from the Police has 
allowed the group to examine conviction rates while information from Housing has fed into 
the Domestic Violence Strategy. An area for development will be to find ways to use the 
large amount of data more meaningfully and selecting particular themes for analysis. 
 
The QA subgroup has carried out a number of multi-agency themed audits of front-line 
practice concerning specific Board priorities. In 2014/15 this has included domestic abuse, 
neglect and child sexual exploitation. These were led by officers independent and external 
to the LSCB usually reviewing up to 15 cases from the three boroughs. In the last year, 
additional resource has been created for audit arrangements by putting in place a new ‘QA 
Manager’ role, in order to ensure improved agency engagement, such as with schools and 
to enable more robust reporting on the impact of audits on front line practice and outcomes 
for children. Audit findings are presented at LSCB meetings and agencies are tasked to take 
action as required. The new QA Manager role will follow up recommendations to ensure 

Page 66



 

39 
 

learning is widely disseminated and impact is measured. Recommendations from past multi 
agency audits will be reviewed at Board meetings. 
 
In 2014/15, the pan-London template for Section 11 reporting was reviewed and revised, 
based on Working Together guidance and to make the audits more evidence based.  The 
new template will also encourage an improved partnership approach for the identification 
of strengths and weaknesses and offering mutual support, rather than an approach which 
previously may have been viewed as criticism or scrutiny by the Local Authority.  Audits will 
be conducted electronically so that results can be collated and analysed and presented to 
the QA subgroup for scrutiny.  The final draft will be trialed during the summer of 2015. 
Further to a Voluntary Sector Safeguarding event in May 2014 there has been a 
strengthening of links with partnership groups and LSCB representation at Voluntary Sector 
fora. The key focus is Section 11 responsibilities and liaison with the Commissioning 
Directorate concerning services commissioned by the local authority to work with children 
and young people. 
 
In addition, the LSCB has considered findings from new Local Authority Ofsted reports and 
paid regard to issues relating to safeguarding and child protection which have emerged from 
Ofsted School inspections. Consideration has been given to carrying out a JSNA on children’s 
safeguarding although Public Health advice has been that a JSNA may not be the right tool 
for this purpose.  The three HWBs have commissioned a number of JSNAs, including one on 
child poverty and this will inform the Board’s work. 
 
A peer review of the LSCB recommended that the Board should monitor the impact of 
restructured front line services. In the last year, the relevant Assistant Director presented a 
report to the LSCB following the development of a number of services for looked after 
children and care leavers which were shared by all three boroughs. A report with a similar 
focus is anticipated on the progress of the restructured Adoption and Fostering service. The 
Board has been updated on Focus on Practice, a significant transformation programmes 
across Children’s Services, and Partnership Groups have also discussed any emerging 
pressures on front-line services.  In addition the Chair of the LSCB introduced a standing 
item at the Board meetings for agencies to update on organisational changes that impact on 
service delivery.  The opportunity to challenge agencies about practice is explicit both in 
meetings and by professional contacts between Board members outside meetings. 
 
Again this year, each of the boroughs has conducted a ‘Practice Week’ through which 
managers undertook practice observations and case file audits, as well as providing 
coaching and feedback sessions with staff and supervisors. Common themes are 
subsequently written up to inform learning, development and follow up discussion. This also 
gives staff an opportunity to talk about work they are proud of and any barriers that may 
exist to getting the best outcomes for children. In particular, managers look at the journey 
of the child and evidence which clearly communicates purpose of interventions. Results of 
the practice weeks include a focus on the quality of return home interviews for missing 
children which also informed the development of the new Missing Children Co-ordinator 
role. 
 

Page 67



 

40 
 

3.7 Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) 

 
A well established LADO service continues to develop strong working relationships across 
children’s services within the three boroughs and with external statutory partners. This 
builds a coordinated and consistent approach to allegations management, facilitates the 
dissemination of guidelines in respect of safe working practice and aids the development of 
organisational cultures which facilitate safeguarding. Strong links have also been established 
with the regulators and inspectorate and with LADOs both across London and nationally; the 
LADO lead co-coordinates the pan-London LADO group and this year organised the second 
National LADO Conference which was hosted by shared Children’s Services of the three 
boroughs. 
 
During 2014/15 there were 148 allegations referred to the LADO across the three boroughs 
(LBHF:68, RBKC:21, WCC:59) from a wide range of agencies and relating to both 
professionals and volunteers who work with children. 
 
The LADO lead sits on the Learning and Development subgroup and delivers nationally 
accredited safe recruitment training which is open to all agencies. A separate refresher 
course is also available taking learning from Serious Case Reviews and a ‘meet the LADO’ 
session has also been added to the LSCB. Explicit reference to the arrangements for 
managing allegations in the three boroughs is also made in all multi – agency training and 
there is emerging evidence that this has led to an increase in reporting and consultation.  
 
Nationally the successful prosecution of high profile perpetrators of abuse has enabled 
further victims to come forward with confidence. This has been reflected locally by an 
increase in referrals and of referrals of a historic nature in particular. In addition the number 
of referrals relating to conduct outside the workplace has increased particularly with regard 
to adults who work with children who have accessed and/or are in possession of child abuse 
images. The LADO works closely with HR departments in the three boroughs and with those 
providing Human Resources services for partner agencies. Organisations also regularly ask 
for LADO advice relating to the suspension of employment , matters relating to disciplinary 
procedures and referrals to the Disclosure and Barring Service and professional bodies. 
 
The introduction of new arrangements relating to disqualification by association has also led 
to an increase in contact with LADOs for advice in terms of assessment of risk and the 
application to Ofsted for waivers relating to those involved.  
 
There has also been an increase in referrals and consultations relating to adults, working in 
various sectors, who have not been appropriately trained and supported to work with 
children and young people, some of whom have complex needs. Often these cases do not 
reach the threshold for criminal investigation or intervention by children’s services but 
evidence a need for adults working in this sector to be clearly briefed about conduct and 
expectations relating to their work with children and young people. It is also becoming 
evident, when cases are investigated, that early signs of offender behaviour are not always 
recognised as a cause for concern; staff may not be equipped to recognise these concerns or 
are not confident to report them. 
 

Page 68



 

41 
 

The following areas have been identified for development by the LADO service:  
 
 Continue to raise the profile of the service with all partner agencies to ensure that 

referrals  and consultations continue to be timely and appropriate.  

 Review key contacts with  partner agencies in order to provide a directory for all those 

who hold the LADO function. 

 Increased liaison with Adults’ Services on the development of the role of designated 

allegations’ management leads. 

 Continue to roll out lessons learned from Serious Case Reviews to reinforce best 

practice. 

 Brief  teams and organisations on safe working practice including revised national 

guidance is expected later this year. 

 Increase understanding and awareness for those in the children’s workforce regarding 

the modus operandi of offenders.  

3.8 Complaints 

 
Complaints regarding the conduct of Child Protection Conferences are dealt with under the 
LSCB Complaints Procedure. The complaints procedure has two stages with a strong 
emphasis on resolving complaints at the first stage. From 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015, 9 
complaints were recorded at Stage One of the complaints Procedure. The LSCB successfully 
resolved 7 complaints at Stage One and 2 were escalated to Stage Two.  
  

Learning from complaints is an important part of the LSCB’s philosophy and managers 
responding to complaints are encouraged to identify any shortcomings within the service 
and to inform the service user of any actions which will be taken to prevent a recurrence of 
the event which led to the complaint. Examples of learning during the last year are:  
  

 Following the consideration of a complaint at Stage Two, the LSCB agreed to undertake a 
review of the way information is recorded for Review Child Protection Conferences. This 
had a particular emphasis on accuracy so that information provided from previous 
conferences has a review date, and where the information is no longer accurate, it 
should be updated in the conference minutes.  

 
 A review of the management of split conferences was also undertaken, including the 

information provided to families in order to improve practice and enhance parent 
participation.  

 
3.9 Financial arrangements 

 
The total budget for 2014/15 from partner contributions was £250,241. £167,591 was 
contributed by the three local authorities with additional contributions totalling £82,650 
from the Metropolitan Police, Probation, CAFCASS and the CCGs. Additional expenditure 
during the year was covered from LSCB reserve funding. 
 
 

Page 69



 

42 
 

Budget Summary Table 
 
  LBHF RBKC WCC FORECAST  

Contributions received in 2014/15      

Sovereign Borough general fund 
(BUDGET) 

-65,951 -49,340 -52,300 -167,591 

Partner Contributions in 2014/15      

Metropolitan Police -5,000 -5,000 -5,000 -15,000 

Probation -2,000 -2,000 -2,000 -6,000 

CAFCASS -550 -550 -550 -1,650 

CCG (Health) -20,000 -20,000 -20,000 -60,000 

          

Total Funding excluding reserves 
2014/15 

-93,501 -76,890 -79,850 -250,241 

     

Forecast Expenditure in 2014/15 LBHF RBKC WCC FORECAST  

Salary expenditure 89,195 84,582 82,099 255,876 

Independent Chair 9,319 9,319 9,319 27,957 

Training              
11,221  

             
13,321  

             
13,321  

37,863 

Peer review                 
1,891  

               
1,891  

               
1,891  

5,673 

Multiagency Auditing                
9,303  

               
9,303  

               
9,303  

27,909 

SCR expenditure 1415              
18,714  

               
14,581  

33,295 

Other LSCB costs                
3,794  

               
6,879  

               
4,569  

15,242 

     

Total expenditure 143,437 125,295 135,083 403,815 

     

Outturn variance in 2014/15 
including SCR 

49,936 48,405 55,233 153,574 

     

LSCB RESERVES as at P9     

  LBHF RBKC WCC FORECAST  

Reserves at start of year  -29,050 -116,240 -145,812 -291,102 

Adjustments in year  5,000 -5,000    

Page 70



 

43 
 

DD in 201415  18,550 48,405 55,233        
122,188.00  

Reserves to take forward into 
2015/16 

-5,500 -72,835 -90,579 -168,914 

 CONFIRMED CONFIRMED CONFIRMED  

LSCB final outturn  31,386 0 0 31,386 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



 

44 
 

CHAPTER 4 – WHAT HAPPENS WHEN A CHILD DIES OR IS SERIOUSLY 
HARMED? 

 
4.1 Child Death Reviews 

 
A Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) is in place covering the three boroughs. It considers 
circumstances relating to the deaths of children including any implications for future 
practice and strategic planning. 
 
Twenty three deaths were reviewed by CDOP during 2014-15. These related to children who 
died between 2011 and 2015.  Of the 23 cases, 9 were unexpected. The key themes for the 
unexpected deaths related to life limiting disease and sudden unexplained death of infants. 
Unexpected deaths led to a rapid response investigation led by the Designated Paediatrician 
for Unexpected Child Deaths to ensure there were effective multi agency investigations 
carried out and that the families were supported through their bereavement.  
 
The main category of death continues to be perinatal events. This is consistent with the 
national trend and has led to intensive scrutiny of neonatal deaths by the Designated 
Paediatrician for Unexpected Deaths in conjunction with a Consultant Neonatologist. The 
Panel consists of a lay member who advises and ensures that the support that parents 
receive is adequate and of a high standard. A thorough review of cases has revealed that the 
standard of care is good. Due to the small number of deaths in the three boroughs there is 
limited learning arising from the reviews. This is not inconsistent with what is reported by 
other CDOPs.   
 
What difference has it made? 
 

 Developing LSCB training to include awareness of responsibilities regarding child deaths 

has led to increased consultation of the Designated Paediatrician for Child Deaths by 

other Trusts across the three boroughs, neonatal units and Paediatric Intensive Care 

Units as well as improved links with the Designated Paediatrician for Child Death in 

neighbouring Brent. 

 CDOP reviewed and confirmed the effectiveness of feedback and support for those 

where the child has died within local NHS hospitals. 

 Databases and information gathering processes have been developed to ensure that 

better information is now available about the ethnicity of children who have died is 

included.   

 A registrar’s review of sudden unexpected deaths in infants concluded that many babies 

who die have factors which put them at risk such as adverse social, environmental and 

medical factors. As the death of a baby should be described in terms of all the factors 

present in his or her life and not just the post-mortem findings, the study has demanded 

that data about child deaths is collected in a more rigorous way going forward. 

 
 
 

Page 72



 

45 
 

Next Steps 
 

 As part of a CDOP case in April 2015, the CDOP subgroup reviewed the feedback 

provided to families regarding Panel findings.  The review indicated that information 

cannot always easily be automatically fed back to families due to third party 

information and inappropriate information such as criminal investigations.  This area 

requires further development. However, the review highlighted work that needs to 

take place with childminders ongoing registration requirements. Also, that where a 

case is subject to coroner’s inquest, the inquest findings will be available to the 

family. 

 During 2015-16, links will be made with some of the other CDOPs across North West 

London to identify how learning from a wider number of cases can be shared. 

 More work is required to ensure that those dying in Private Hospitals or outside of 

the boroughs are receiving effective feedback and support. 

 Strengthen the contribution of Public Health to the Panel to support better 

identification of the extent to which socio-economic factors impact on the deaths of 

local children and to ensure that the learning from the reviews is incorporated into 

the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.  

 Strengthen links to local Coroners to support a more effective response to deaths 

abroad 

 Review the Rapid Response Protocol and ensure appropriate linkages between Rapid 

Response, CDOP and the Case Review Sub Group. 

 

4.2 Case Reviews 

 
A “serious case” is where abuse or neglect of a child is suspected and either the child has 
died or has been seriously harmed and there is cause for concern about how organisations 
or professionals worked together to safeguard the child. Locally the LSCB case review sub 
group considers new child care incidents and makes recommendations to the LSCB Chair on 
whether a serious case review (SCR) or other type of review should be held.  
 
What have we done? 
 
 In 2014/15, the sub-group oversaw the commencement of two new serious case reviews 

and received one completed serious case review report. In addition, one new “case 

review” started, four completed review reports were received along with three 

Individual Management Reports that contributed to a serious case review in another 

Local Authority. 

 The first SCR initiated was referred to as ‘Sofia’.  A report was completed and the 

learning from the review was presented at an LSCB meeting with the Board agreeing a 

response. A learning event was then held to share findings with the three boroughs and 

Page 73



 

46 
 

other Boards who had involvement with the case. This SCR report will be published once 

criminal proceedings are concluded, so that learning can be disseminated more widely. 

 The second SCR initiated was in response to abuse at an international school, based in 

Westminster.  This case attracted national publicity because of the extent of the abuse 

and the suicide of the alleged perpetrator.  The review is ongoing and is likely to report 

in the autumn 2015, following which it will be published.  It is likely to be of national 

interest and the learning will be disseminated widely. 

 The sub group considers national or other Local Authority review reports where there 

are lessons for local services. This is consistent with the Learning and Improvement 

Framework. 

 

Key learning points from reviews identified by the sub group include: 

 
 The need to avoid a “mindset” approach to cases, where they become 

compartmentalised as types of cases which require a particular response, e.g. “an 

adoption case” or “an education case”. Compartmentalising cases in this way  was 

seen to have hindered thinking about other relevant issues e.g. links to gangs or  

parenting issues in the two cases reviewed. 

 The importance of effective reflective supervision and its role in encouraging a more 

holistic approach to meeting children’s needs has been stressed. 

 There has also been learning around working with mobile families, handover of 

cases, the chairing of Child in Need reviews, working with adoptive families, 

emotional attachment disorders, best practice in permanency planning, concealed 

pregnancy and the role of schools in deciding  appropriate responses to drug use. 

 

 The Case Review subgroup produces a quarterly ‘Learning Review’ newsletter to ensure 

that learning improves the quality of practice.  This is circulated to Children’s Services 

and key contacts from partner agencies.  In 2015/16 the new website for the LSCB will 

be a place where all practitioners can access the newsletter and between now and then 

the LSCB is disseminating the newsletter to front-line staff at safeguarding courses.  It is 

also sent as a link to GPs via CCGs. The Chair of the L&D Subgroup has held two learning 

workshops as part of the LSCB training offer this year, based on lessons from recent case 

reviews. 

 

What difference has it made? 

 

Please see sections on Learning of Case Reviews, Domestic Violence and Abuse and 

Neglect for information about impact of specific SCRs. 

 

 

 

Page 74



 

47 
 

Next Steps 

 

 Provide more ‘bite-size’ courses on learning from current case reviews so that 

practitioners can attend sessions more easily within busy work schedules. 

 A current SCR regarding abuse in an international school in Westminster has highlighted 

a major learning point at a national level: that the abuser had a previous conviction in 

the United States but when he was recruited, there were not comprehensive overseas 

checks. Reviewing how agencies undertake checks for people who have worked or lived 

abroad may be a national issue for agencies well beyond the LSCB.  The LSCB will 

consider requesting partner agencies to review their own agency and report to the LSCB. 

The LSCB could also lobby central government for assistance in this area. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 75



 

48 
 

CHAPTER 5 – STATEMENT OF SUFFICIENCY AND FUTURE PRIORITIES 

 
5.1 Statement of Sufficiency (LSCB Chair) 

 
Information submitted and presented in this annual review demonstrates that the LSCB for 
Hammersmith & Fulham, Kensington and Chelsea, and Westminster fulfills its statutory 
responsibilities in accordance with Children Act 2004 and the Local Safeguarding Children 
Board Regulations 2006. This Review is evidence that the LSCB has coordinated the work of 
agencies represented on the Board, for the purposes of safeguarding and promoting the 
welfare of children in the area. It also captures the mechanisms the LSCB has in place to 
ensure and monitor the effectiveness of what is done by agencies to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of children across the three boroughs and to challenge agencies to improve 
coordination and learn from review and audit. 
 
5.2 Priorities for 2015/16 
 

It has been noted that our previous plans have consisted of a long list of actions and we may 
be criticised for trying to do everything rather than focusing on a few matters. However, we 
are committed to doing well across all our areas of responsibility. While we aim to be aware 
of and responsive to the emerging themes of the national and local safeguarding agenda, 
we are also keen to continue to develop our approach to longer term priorities until we are 
satisfied that sufficient progress and impact has been made. This is reflected in a number of 
actions identified in this report where we want to improve still further. We are also 
conscious of the need to balance priorities to ensure that responses to significant risks to 
comparatively small numbers of children and young people are progressed while not losing 
sight of wider safeguarding issues which affect a larger cohort. 
 
For 2015/16 we have sought to design smarter objectives. The LSCB’s Safeguarding Plan for 
2015/16 has been signed off by the LSCB.  Following a review of the previous year’s Business 
Plan, consultation with partner agencies and discussion with the Board, the headline 
priorities are as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Continue to deliver the core 
business of the Board at 
high quality 
 
 Evaluation and challenge of 

the role of Early Help in 
safeguarding children 

 Engagement with diverse 
communities 

 Effective child protection 
plans 

 Multi-agency responses to 
neglect 

 Ensure safeguarding practice 
meets the needs of children 
with mental health concerns, 
who are disabled or affected 
by domestic abuse 
 
 

 

Ensure effective, 
proportionate, multi-agency 
responses to safeguarding 
issues which affect children 
& young people with high 
levels of vulnerability 

 
 Female Genital Mutilation 

 Sexual exploitation 
 Addressing perpetrators of  

abuse and exploitation 
 Involvement with gangs 

 Going missing 
 Substance misuse 

 Radicalisation of  young 
people 
 

 

Improve the Board’s 
effectiveness in reducing 
harm to children 

 

 Learning from each other in a 
context of  organisational 
change 

 Increased learning from case 
reviews  

 Ensuring that the needs of 
children from marginalised 
groups are scrutinised by the 
Board 

 Effective communication with a 
multi-agency workforce 

 Holding each other to account - 
challenge that improves 
outcomes 

 Maximising our wider 
partnerships to better influence 
impact on the ground 

Page 76



 

49 
 

Our developments and action in relation to these priorities will be informed by the voice of 
the child & the experience of our looked after children. We have also indicated how we 
would expect to measure the impact of our work and will report on our progress with this in 
our next Annual Report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Essential Information 

 
Authorship  Jean Daintith (Independent Chair of the LSCB) and Children’s Policy Team, 
Westminster, Kensington and Chelsea and Hammersmith and Fulham 
 
Date of Publication   October 2015 
 
Approval Process  This report has been approved by the LSCB 
 
Copyright and reproduction information   This report is a public document 
 
Sources and verification  This report contains contributions from the safeguarding 
community in Hammersmith and Fulham, Kensington and Chelsea and Westminster  
 
Availability and accessibility   This report can be downloaded as follows: 
https://www.rbkc.gov.uk/subsites/lscb/aboutus/publications.aspx 
 
Contact details   Steve.Bywater@lbhf.gov.uk (Children’s Policy Manager)  
 

 
 

Page 77

https://www.rbkc.gov.uk/subsites/lscb/aboutus/publications.aspx
mailto:Steve.Bywater@lbhf.gov.uk


 

50 
 

APPENDIX A BOARD MEMBERSHIP 

(Membership as at May 2015) 

Surname 
Forename 
and title Role 

Borough or 
area (if 
relevant) Agency 

Armotrading Lavinia 

Designated Nurse for Safeguarding 
Children Central London and West 
London CCGs  Health - CCG 

Ashley Dr Louise 
Chief Nurse and Director of Quality 
Assurance, CLCH   Health - CLCH 

Brownjohn Nicky 
Associate Director  for Safeguarding 
(CWHH) CCGs   

Health - 
CWHHE CCG 

Bywater Steve Policy and Performance Manager 
Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

Children’s 
Services  

Campbell Cllr Elizabeth 
Cabinet Member for Family and 
Children’s Services, RBKC 

Kensington and 
Chelsea Councillor 

Caslake Melissa 
Operational Director of Children's 
Services (WCC) Westminster 

Children’s 
Services  

Chaffer Denise 

Director of Nursing  NW London Area 
Team 
NHS England   

Health - NHS 
England 

Chalkley Cllr Danny  
Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Services, WCC   Westminster Councillor 

Chamberlain Clare Director of Family Services (RBKC) 
Kensington and 
Chelsea 

Children’s 
Services  

Christie Andrew 
Executive Director of Children’s 
Services   

Children’s 
Services  

Daintith Jean Independent LSCB Chair   
Independent 
Chair 

Dehinde Tola LSCB Lay member 
Kensington and 
Chelsea Lay person 

Dodhia Hitesh 
Head of Operations ( Gate / Visits ) 
Wormwood Scrubs   Prisons  

Flahive Angela 

Joint Tri Borough Head of 
Safeguarding Review and Quality 
Assurance (WCC, RBKC, H&F) 
Children's Services    

Children’s 
Services  

Goddard Andrea 
Designated Doctor for Central 
London CCG   

Health - 
Imperial 

Grant Patricia 

Designated Nurse for Safeguarding 
Children Hammersmith and Fulham 
CCG Health Adviser to LSCB 

Hammersmith & 
Fulham Health - CCGs 

Hargreaves Paul  
Designated Doctor for Hammersmith 
& Fulham and West London CCGs 

Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

Health - 
Chelwest 

Heggs Ian 
Tri-borough Director for School 
Commissioning   Education 

Hillas Andrew 
Assistant Chief Officer, London 
Community Rehabilitation Company   Probation 

Page 78



 

51 
 

Hine Coretta MPS CAIT   Police - Met 

Hrobonova Eva Consultant in Public Health Medicine   
Health - Public 
Health  

Jackson Sally 
Partnership Manager, Standing 
Together   

Voluntary 
Sector 

Jones Will 
Assistant Chief Officer National 
Probation Service   Probation 

Knights Catherine 

Associate Director of Operations, 
Central North West London Mental 
Health Trust   

Adult Mental 
Health 

Leeming Wayne 
Head Teacher Melcombe Primary 
School  

Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

Education - 
School 

Maclean Caroline Director of ASC Ops   
Adult 
Safeguarding 

Macmillan Cllr Sue 
Cabinet Member for Family and 
Children's Services 

Hammersmith & 
Fulham Councillor 

Meyrick Olivia 
Executive Head of QEII and College 
Park School  Westminster 

Education - 
School 

Miley Steve Director of Family Services (H&F) 
Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

Children’s 
Services  

Raymond Debbie 
Head of Combined Safeguarding & 
Quality Assurance   

Children’s 
Services  

Redelinghuys Johan 
Director of Safeguarding and Named 
Doctor WLMHT   

Adult Mental 
Health 

Riley Belinda Interim LSCB Business Manager   LSCB 

Roberts Greg 
Supporting People and Homelessness 
Strategy Manager (WCC) Westminster Housing 

Royle Liz Head of Safeguarding, CLCH   Health - CLCH 

Scott Plummer Poppy LSCB Lay member 
Hammersmith & 
Fulham Lay person 

Sloane Vanessa 
Director of Nursing and Quality. 
Chelsea and Westminster Hospital    

Health - 
Chelwest 

Springer Gideon 

Chief Superintendent Borough 
Commander Hammersmith and 
Fulham  

Hammersmith & 
Fulham Police - Met  

Steel Senga Deputy Director of Nursing   
Health - 
Imperial 

Taylor Adam Head of Commissioning   
Community 
Safety Team 

Taylor Alan 
Head of Safeguarding, London 
Ambulance Service   

Health - 
London 
Ambulance 

Virgo Elizabeth LSCB Lay member Westminster Lay person 

Webster Dr Jonathan 

Director of Quality, Patient Safety 
and Nursing  CWHH CCG 
Collaborative   

Health - 
CWHHE CCG 

Whyte Sally  
Head Teacher of Lady Margaret 
Secondary School 

Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

Education - 
School 

Yilkan Zafer CAFCASS   Cafcass 

 
 
 

Page 79



 

52 
 

APPENDIX B LSCB MAIN BOARD ATTENDANCE 

Role 

16th 
April 
13 

16th 
July 
13 

15th 
Oct 
13 

14th 
Jan 
14 

15th 
Apr 
14 

15th 
Jul 
14 

14th 
Oct 
14 

13th 
Jan 
15 

21st 
Apr 
15 

14th 
July 
15 

LSCB Chair y y y y y y y y y y 
Executive Director of 
Children’s Services y y y y y y y y y y 
Director of Family Services 
(H&F) y y y y y y y y y y 
Director of Family Services 
(RBKC) o y y y x y y y y x 
Director of Children's 
Services (WCC) y y y y y y y y y y 

Director of Schools y y y y y y x x y y 

Head of Combined 
Safeguarding & Quality 
Assurance y y(2) y y y y y(2) y y y 

LSCB Business Manager y x y y y y y y y y 
Director of Adults 
Safeguarding  x y y x y x y(2) y y(2) y 

Housing y y y y y y y y(2) y y 

Borough Command x y y y y y y x y y 

CAIT y y x x y y y y y y 

Probation y y x y y y y x y x 

Community Rehabilitation 
Company o o o o y x x y y y 

CAFCASS y y x y x x x y x x 

Prisons o o o y x x y y y x 

Ambulance Service o y y y x y x y y y 

Voluntary Sector 
y y y y x y y x y y 

Lay member o y(2) y(3) y(2) y y(2) y(2) y y y(2) 

NHS England x x x x x x y x x x 

Health CCGs y y y(2) y y y y y(2) y y 

Designated Doctor 
INWL/Designated Doctor 
Chelwest y(2) y(2) y y(2) x y y(2) y x y 

Designated Nurse y y y y y y y y y y 

Head of Safeguarding, y x y y y y y y y y 

Page 80



 

53 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CLCH 

CLCH Director of Nursing x y x y x x y x x y 

Imperial Director of 
Nursing y y y y y y y y y x 

Chelwest Director of 
Nursing y x x y y x y x x y 
WLMHT y y y y y x x y y y 

CNWL y y y y y y y y y y 

Public Health y y x y y y y y x y 
Community Safety Team 
(Commissioning) o o o o y y x y y y 
Policy Team 
(Commissioning) o o o o o o o o y y 

Head Teachers o o o y(3) x x y y(2) x x 

Cabinet Member for 
Children’s services, H&F o y y y x y x y x x 

Cabinet Member for 
Family and Children’s 
Services, RBKC y x x y y x y x y y 

Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Services, WCC y y y y x x x x x x 

Page 81



 

54 
 

APPENDIX C LSCB TRAINING OFFER 2014/15 
 
The training offer has been as follows: 
 
Core training: 
 
 Introduction to Safeguarding 

 Multi-agency Safeguarding and Child Protection 
 

Specialist Training:  
 

 Domestic Abuse and Safeguarding Children  

 Parental Mental Health and Safeguarding Children  

 Parental Substance Misuse and Safeguarding Children  

 Working Effectively with Interpreters 
 Abuse and Young People’s Relationships 

 Girls, gangs and sexual violence 

 Awareness of cultural practices (FGM and honour based violence) 

 Be wise to Sexual Exploitation 

 Safeguarding Children with Special Needs 

 Safeguarding Children who may be involved with gangs 

 Safeguarding Children:  The Impact of Neglect 
 Safeguarding Neglect: Identifying and intervening  

 E-safety 

 Fabricated and Induced Illness 

 Working with Difficult and Evasive Families 

 Working Effectively with Interpreters 

 Forced Marriage and Honour Based Violence (Karma Nirvana Roadshow) 

 A whole programme on Joint Investigation – well attended by Children’s Services staff 
but not attended by health or police so it has been removed from 15/16 programme 
 

Managerial Training: 
 

 Safer Recruitment 

 Supervision in relation to Safeguarding Children 

 Serious Case Review: What do we have to Learn? 

 Advanced Skills Workshops for Supervisors: Assessment and Analysis 

 Advanced Skills Workshops for Supervisors: Safeguarding young people and gangs. 

 

The LSCB training offer is continually reviewed to ensure that it responds to local priorities 

and demands. The L&D team has convened a number of focus groups with training 

participants, managers, subgroup members, trainers and safeguarding specialists to review 

the training offer. The LSCB training team hosted some of the national Karma Nirvana 

roadshows to update the workshop on changes to legislation on forced marriage.  Other 

developments and progress against 2014/15 priorities included: 

Page 82



 

55 
 

 

 Neglect Training. This was as a result of individual agencies asking to review internal 
training in light of local and national case reviews and the Ofsted Thematic Report of 
2014. 

 Level 3 Safeguarding. The programme includes learning from recent national and local 
case reviews. It has been updated, with new programmes in place and plans to ensure 
all LSCB trainers are competent to deliver. 

 E-Safety.  Following the report and recommendations from the e-safety short life 
working group, e-safety has been incorporated into training for Designated Leads and 
further specialist training has been commissioned for Designated Leads and specialist 
staff to commence in September 2015. There is also signposting to support available 
from CEOP, NSPCC and Internet Watch Foundation, among others.  

 Safeguarding in Schools. From January 2015, the Lead for Safeguarding in Schools has 
been using a new audit tool to support schools evaluate their effectiveness in meeting 
safeguarding responsibilities. Evaluation and feedback has been used to inform training 
on Safer Recruitment including management of allegations in 2015/16. 

 Signposting to Prevent workshops. 
 Ensuring all agencies have the highest standards in safer recruitment of staff. A revised 

scenario in multi-agency safeguarding Level 3 course was also included about the role of 
the LADO to raise awareness and signpost to safer recruitment training.  

 The promotion of training amongst community and voluntary sector organisations to 
increase take-up. The LSCB’s Community Development Worker co-ordinated an event 
for the faith and voluntary sector where the LSCB training programme was promoted.   

 A focus on diversity issues (FGM and forced marriage). 

 

 
 
 

Page 83



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

CHILDREN AND EDUCATION POLICY & 
ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
23 November 2015  

 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S UPDATE 
 

Report of the Executive Director of Children’s Services 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification: For Information and Review 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Andrew Christie, Executive Director of Children’s 
Services 
 

Report Author: Andrew Christie, Executive Director 
of Children’s Services 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 3601 
andrew.christie@lbhf.gov.uk  

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report provides a brief overview of recent developments of relevance to 

the Children’s Services department for members of the Policy and 
Accountability Committee to consider. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 The Committee is asked to review and comment upon the contents of this 
report. 

Page 84

Agenda Item 7

mailto:andrew.christie@lbhf.gov.uk


EDUCATION 
 
2.2 SCHOOL INSPECTIONS 

Since the last CEPAC meeting, Holy Cross School was inspected by Ofsted 
on 23 and 24 September and judged to be good. The school’s effectiveness 
of leadership and management was found to be outstanding. This shows 
significant improvements having been made since when the school was 
previously inspected in 2013 and it was judged to require improvement. 

2.3 CHILDREN AND FAMILIES ACT IMPLEMENTATION 

Following consultation with service users and partners about their experience 
of the first year of delivery of the new Act, a Special Educational Needs 
Service Improvement Plan has been developed to address a number of 
priorities which have been identified. These include improving the 
communications and statutory compliance of the Special Educational Needs 
Service; improving joint working between Education, Family Services and 
Adult Social Care to develop the transition arrangements that are in place for 
children from the age of 14; to manage the financial demands resulting from 
more young people aged 16-25 now being eligible for support through 
Education, Health and Care (EHC) plans by proactively improving local 
provision for this age group; and to increase training for young people to be 
able to travel independently to and from education provision where 
appropriate. The service will report on key performance indicators for each 
priority area on a quarterly basis. 

 
 
3. CHILDREN’S CENTRE INSPECTIONS 
 
3.1 The report of Ofsted’s inspection of Fulham Central Children’s Centre was 

published in September 2015. Ofsted judged the centre to be inadequate. 
This was the first time that Fulham Central had been inspected. The local 
authority is working closely with the Pre- school Learning Alliance (who are 
commissioned to provide children’s centre services at Fulham Central) to 
address the issues raised in the Ofsted report. There is a comprehensive 
action plan in place which we are working on to ensure that children and their 
families, particularly those most in the need within the centre’s reach, are 
offered the best possible children’s centre service. 

 
3.2 In July 2015 it was announced that a consultation would take place on the 

future of children’s centres nationally, including consideration of what 
accountability framework is required to best demonstrate their effectiveness. 
Subsequently the Department for Education have agreed with Ofsted to 
pause the children's centre inspection cycle, pending the outcome of the 
consultation. This means that any children's centre inspections due in the 
2015 to 2016 academic year under sections 2, 3 and 4 of the Children's 
Centre (Inspections) Regulations 2010 will not now take place until the 
consultation has concluded. 

 

Page 85



 
4. SAFEGUARDING 
 
4.1 Operation Makesafe was formally launched by the Council with the 

Metropolitan Police on 14 October. This is a campaign to raise awareness of 
and tackle child sexual exploitation with a particular focus on businesses such 
as licensed premises, hotels, food outlets and mini-cab offices which may be 
targeted by perpetrators. Council officers have been visiting relevant 
businesses to offer free police training. There are accompanying initiatives 
including a poster campaign and a dedicated telephone number through 
which concerns can be reported directly to the police. A more detailed briefing 
on Operation Makesafe including publicity materials has also been made 
available to CEPAC members. 

 
4.2 The Executive Director’s update for September’s CEPAC reported a reduction 

in the number of children requiring child protection plans. This followed 
concerns in 2014 when over 200 children had such plans but total had been 
reduced to 145. This reduction has continued with 110 children now having 
child protection plans. This results from ongoing use of working differently with 
families through the “Strengthening Families” model with the Focus on 
Practice programme also starting to have a positive effect. 

 
4.3 A Serious Case Review in respect of a child who had connections to 

Hammersmith & Fulham has been completed and is expected to be published 
before the next CEPAC meeting. 

 
 
5. CORPORATE PARENTING 
 
5.1 ACCOMMODATION FOR CARE LEAVERS 
 

The recent development of our Semi-independent Living Commissioning 
Strategy was informed by the objective of ensuring looked after young people 
aged 16–18 and care leavers aged 18–24 are placed in safe and instructive 
semi-independent supported accommodation that is most suited to their 
requirements and represents best value. The accommodation is 
commissioned to provide young people with the understanding and life skills 
required to move on to independent living in the community when appropriate. 
The strategy is now being implemented. A contract has been in place from 
May 2015 to provide the core of supported accommodation for Hammersmith 
& Fulham’s care leavers through placements located within the borough. This 
is a block contract with a single provider (Centrepoint) with 71 units across 9 
properties. In some cases, it is not appropriate for a care leaver to be placed 
in borough, due to safeguarding issues or previous care connections. In these 
circumstances, additional semi-independent living placements in Greater 
London will be commissioned from a framework agreement. It is anticipated 
that the framework agreement will be in place by the end of the year. 

 
 
 

Page 86



6. COMMISSIONING 
 
6.1 SCHOOL MEALS 
 

Following an update provided for the previous CEPAC, recommissioning of 
the school meals service contracts for Hammersmith & Fulham continues. 
The “call-off” for Kensington and Chelsea has now concluded. This process is 
planned to commence in Hammersmith and Fulham in January 2016 with 
contracts due to be awarded in March or April and due to commence in June 
2016. Hammersmith and Fulham may appoint the same or different 
contractors as Kensington and Chelsea and Westminster.  

 
Planning for the mobilisation of contracts is well underway and will be 
managed by the existing School Meals Contract Management Team based 
within the Children’s Commissioning Directorate. The team will also continue 
to be responsible for the contract monitoring of the school meals service, 
providing continuity and a clear point of contact for schools. 

 
6.2 TRAVEL CARE AND SUPPORT 

Work continues to implement the revised vision for the Travel Care and 
Support service which aims to deliver a high quality service with a stronger 
emphasis on caring for those who use the service. Key recent changes and 
developments have included: 

 The development of an enhanced performance management 
framework with key indicators and work is now progressing with 
providers to set up processes and systems to gather the required 
information. 

 Negotiation of contractual arrangements and changes where required, 
in order ensure full sovereign accountability and control for the service. 

 A new Information and Communications Technology system is being 
procured for the Transport Commissioning Team (TCT) including 
additional equipment to improve communication, for example through 
vehicle tracking and a self-service portal for parents and service users. 
Phase 1 of this improvement has been implemented with a new text 
messaging service being available to all service users and their parents 
and carers. 

 A draft policy for independent travel training has now been written in 
order to improve the choice of transport for service users, and enhance 
service user skills, where appropriate. The draft policy is currently 
subject to consultation with service users, carers and parents, and 
other key stakeholders. 

 The Commissioning and Contracts Improvement Manager has been 
working closely with travel providers to develop and implement 
improvement plans for the Service. In line with implementing the 
revised vision for the service, a clear plan of development work is being 

Page 87



undertaken with the TCT to focus on delivery of arrangements and the 
further improvements and changes which need to be achieved. 

 The Travel Care and Support Working Party continues to meet with its 
remit and terms of reference broadened to include Adult Services. 
Officers are supporting the Working Party with a focus on service 
design, commissioning arrangements, performance monitoring and 
ongoing development. 
 
 

7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 As this report is intended to provide an update on recent developments, there 
are no immediate legal implications. However any legal issues will be 
highlighted in any subsequent substantive reports on any of the items which 
are requested by the Committee. 

 
 
8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 As this report is intended to provide an update on recent developments, here 
are no immediate legal implications. However any legal issues will be 
highlighted in any subsequent substantive reports on any of the items which 
are requested by the Committee. 
 
 

9. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 As this report is intended to provide an update on recent developments, there 
are no immediate financial and resource implications. However any financial 
and resource issues will be highlighted in any subsequent substantive reports 
on any of the items which are requested by the Committee. 

 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 
None. 
 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
None. 

Page 88



Children and Education PAC – Work Programme 2015-16 

Page 1 of 3 
 

Item Report Author(s) Comments 

18 January 2016 
 
 

 

Executive Director’s Update Andrew Christie, Steve 
Bywater 

Standing Item 

Cabinet Members’ Update Cllr Macmillan, Cllr 
Fennimore 

Standing Item 

The Budget – Children’s Services Andrew Lord, Liz Nash, 
Dave McNamara 

 

Looked After Children and Care Leavers Annual Report Glen Peache 
 

Care Leavers – Transition 

To consider the options and support available around transition for careers 
advice, apprenticeships, and further education. 

 
(Sister report to the LAC Annual 
Report) 

School Performance Report 

To include information on Progress 8 and national benchmarking. 

Richard Stanley, Ian 
Heggs 

 

Childcare Task Group Update TBC 
 

BRIEFING NOTE: Youth Council Update 

Updates on the Youth Council Manifesto / Survey / Youth Mayor / and 
school councils. 

 

Brenda Whinnett Refresh in April 2016 

 

P
age 89

A
genda Item

 9



Children and Education PAC – Work Programme 2015-16 

Page 2 of 3 
 

 

February 2016 
 
 

 

Executive Director’s Update Andrew Christie, Steve 
Bywater 

Standing Item 

Cabinet Members’ Update Cllr Macmillan, Cllr 
Fennimore 

Standing Item 

School Organisation and Investment Strategy Alan Wharton 
 

Childcare Task Group Update TBC 
 

Children’s Social Care Complaints TBC 
 

Care Leavers – Housing and Accommodation TBC 
 

 
Deferred Items 
1. Childcare Task Group – Role of Children’s Centres 
 
2. SEN Passenger Transport (Rachael Wright-Turner) - Update on the reconfigured service currently operating and the vision for the new 
service. Meeting to take place at Queensmill School so that parents and teachers can attend for the SEN Passenger Transport item. Possible 
early start. The Chair also requested a short update from the headteacher about the work that the school does around SEN. 
 
3. Staffing and Recruitment - To consider the state of staffing and recruitment in Children’s Services including: impact of DBS delays, impact 
of agency staff, staff retention, commissioned services aligning with council values, and the new workforce strategy. 

 
Other items for consideration - not current scheduled 
1. Childcare during School Holidays - Provision of childcare during school holidays (including holiday schemes – for children aged up to and 
including 11yrs old). 
Committee will look at childcare provision for children 5yrs and under separately at a future meeting. 
 
2. Skills for Young People - Regarding the ‘curriculum for life’ scheme, to consider a range of initiatives aiming to provide new skills for young 
people. Link with Youth Council for feedback. 

P
age 90



Children and Education PAC – Work Programme 2015-16 

Page 3 of 3 
 

 
3. Primary School Curriculum - Consideration of the introduction of the new primary school curriculums. To hear / share good practice from 
primary schools – invite headteachers to share their views. 
 
4. Sports in Schools - Provision of sports in schools. 
 
5. School Pupils with Medical Health Needs - The emphasis is to be on ensuring they are receiving a high quality education and that the 
move between hospital/home/school is smooth and supportive to ensuring the impact of their medical condition is not detrimental to their 
educational attainment. 
 
6. Permanency and Adoption - Legal advice about when the process starts. Other authorities are counting differently? Find out how the 
scorecard system works. 
There is EU funding for families where a child has been put up for adoption at birth – post-adoption work? Currently in the early stages… 
 
7. Green Initiatives in Schools - To look at current initiatives in local schools to implement green infrastructure – e.g. air quality monitoring 
(though CSERS looked at air quality across the borough in September 2015). 
 
8. Focus on Practice - Councillor Macmillan suggested the committee should look at the Focus on Practice initiative (submitted 21 Sept). 
 
9. 8-6 Extended Nurseries Update – Summer 2016 - Update on Childcare Task Group report from 21 September. 
 
10. SEN Provision Update - Update on SEN provision in the borough. 
 
11. Arts Strategy Consultation - Members to input into the LBHF arts strategy consultation on Children and Education areas (arts in schools, 
activities for young people etc.). 
 

Member Development / Training 
1. CSE / Safeguarding Training - To be organised before the November meeting – evening session from around 6pm. 

P
age 91


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Child Protection and Safeguarding in Hammersmith & Fulham - Presentation and Q&A
	6 Local Safeguarding Children Board - 2014-15 Annual Report
	Local Safeguarding Children Board 2014-15 Annual Report

	7 Executive Director's Update
	9 Work Programme

